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GENERAL INFORMATION
Disclaimer
Readers should note that legislation in Singapore governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
This Annual Report is provided for information purposes only
and does not constitute an invitation to invest in the Company’s
shares. Except where you are a shareholder, this report is not,
in particular, intended to confer any legal rights on you. Any
decision you make by relying on this information is solely your
responsibility. The historical information given is as of the dates
specified, is not updated and any forward-looking statement
is made subject to the reservation specified in the following
paragraph.

Important Notes on Forward-looking Statements
This Annual Report may contain forward-looking statements.
Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends” or the
negative use of these terms and other similar expressions of
future performance or results and their negatives are intended
to identify such forward-looking statements. These forwardlooking statements are based upon current expectations and
assumptions regarding anticipated developments and other
factors affecting the Group. They are not historical facts, nor are
they guarantees of future performance or events.

These forward-looking statements involve assumptions, risks
and uncertainties. The actual future performance or results may
differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward
looking statements as a result of various important factors. These
factors include but not limited to, economic, political and social
conditions in the geographic markets where the Group operates,
interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate movements,
cost of capital and availability of capital, competition from other
companies and venues for sale/manufacture/distribution of goods
and services, shift in demands, customers and partners, and
changes in operating costs.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date
of this report. Except as required by any applicable law or
regulation, the Group expressly disclaims any obligation or
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revision to any
forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any
change in the Group’s expectations with regard thereto or any
change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any
such statement is based.
Readers may download the full PDF version of this Annual
Report and other information about SP Corporation Limited at
our website, www.spcorp.com.sg
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SP Corporation Limited is
a diversiﬁed industrial group
with 3 core businesses,
namely, Commodities Trading,
Geotechnical and Soil
Investigation and Tyre and
Auto Products. The Company
is listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (SGX-ST).
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

“

The Group achieved higher earnings of $3.4 million which
represents an increase of 55% over the last year.

Dear Shareholders,
I am pleased to present to you
the Annual Report and Financial
Statements of SP Corporation
Limited for the year ended 31
December 2010.
In 2010, revenue for the Group
grew by $64.3 million or 61% to
$170.7 million due to increased
commodities trading levels,
commencement of drilling services
in Indonesia and recovery of the
export tyre market. The Group
achieved higher earnings of
$3.4 million which represents an
increase of 55% over the last year.
The Group will continue to focus
on developing the commodities
trading business. The Group
will also explore investment
opportunities in the resources
and mining industries to achieve
the long term goal of growing our
shareholders’ value.
Mr William Liem, who was
appointed as Chief Executive
Officer on 1 December 2009, has
stepped down on 1 August 2010
but will remain as a non-Executive
Director and will continue to
contribute to the well-being of the

Company. On behalf of the Board,
I would like to express our thanks
to Mr William Liem for his valuable
contributions to the Group during
his term of office.
The Board has appointed Mr
Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)
as Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 1 August 2010. The
Board welcomes Mr Gozali who
brings with him a vast experience
in running businesses over many
years.
To our Board of Directors,
management and staff, I would
like to express my heartfelt
appreciation for your loyalty,
dedication and commitment.
To our shareholders, valued
customers, business associates
and suppliers, I wish to thank
you for your confidence and
continued support to the
Group.

Peter Sung
Chairman
1 March 2011

”

CEO’S STATEMENT ON
OPERATIONS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

“

The Group benefitted from the various coal allocation
contracts entered into during the year, as well as from
the commencement of the drilling services with an
Indonesian gold mine.

”

2010 was a transitional year for the
Group as resources were focused on
the development of the commodities
trading and drilling services
businesses in Indonesia.
The Group benefitted from the
various coal allocation contracts
entered into during the year, as well
as from the commencement of the
drilling services with an Indonesian
gold mine. Revenue for the Group
grew by $64.3 million or 61% to
$170.7 million attributable to an
increase in the commodities trading
particularly in coal and rubber,
commencement of drilling services
in Indonesia as well as a recovery of
the export tyre market.
The Group achieved higher earnings
of $3.4 million which represents an
increase of 55% over the last year,
with a corresponding improvement in
earnings per share to 0.96 cent from
0.62 cent in 2009.

Tony Wu
CEO
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The Commodities Trading Unit secured a total of 4.4 million mt of ﬁxed coal allocation from 2010 to 2013

COMMODITIES TRADING UNIT
With the growing demand for
commodities and the limited supply,
the Group will continue to develop
the commodities trading business as
this sector offers potential business
opportunities.
The Group has placed interestbearing deposits totalling US$8.0
million with two Indonesian coal
suppliers, PT Bukit Baiduri Energi
(“BBE”) and PT INDEXIM Coalindo
(“INDEXIM”) to secure a total of 4.4
million mt of fixed coal allocation
contracts to-date over a four year
period from 2010 to 2013 as follows:

(i) 500,000 mt for a one-year
period which commenced in
January 2010 and successfully
renewed for another year
commencing in January 2011 for
an additional 500,000 mt of fixed
coal allocation; and
(ii) 3,400,000 mt over a threeyear period commencing 2011 to
2013.

Revenue from the Commodities
Trading Unit doubled to $110.6
million compared to $53.2 million
in 2009, with improved earnings.
The stronger performance was
contributed by increased trading
activities in coal and rubber. With
the coal allocations secured,
revenue from commodities trading
for 2011 is anticipated to be higher
than in 2010.

Coal mine in operation at PT Bukit Baiduri Energi, East Kalimantan, Indonesia

SP Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2010

5

CEO’S STATEMENT ON
OPERATIONS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Commodities Trading Unit
primarily carries out the trading
of commodities including coal,
rubber, and certain metals used
by companies such as power
generators and manufacturers in
the automotive and petrochemical
industries largely in Asia. It also
distributes consumer products
including feminine napkins
and baby diapers produced
by established manufacturers
in China and Indonesia and
provides house-branded products
for supermarkets in Singapore.
Other than coal, the Commodities Trading Unit also trades in
other commodities, such as aluminium

Coal seams in Kalimantan, Indonesia
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GEOTECHNICAL AND SOIL
INVESTIGATION UNIT
The Geotechnical and Soil
Investigation Unit recorded 17%
higher revenue of $16.2 million
compared to $13.8 million in
2009 mainly due to the revenue
pertaining to the drilling and
related services in Indonesia.
The Group has commenced drilling
services at the Indonesian gold
mine, PT Kasongan Bumi Kencana
(“KBK”) through the Geotechnical
and Soil Investigation Unit as
announced in April 2010. KBK

had earlier entered into a Contract
of Work with the Government
of Indonesia, covering an area
of 12,380 hectares in Central
Kalimantan. The Contract of Work,
presently in the construction
phase, provides for a 30-year
Exploitation License. The Unit will
diversify and explore overseas
opportunities to grow its business
and has identified mining to be the
growth industry.
The Geotechnical and Soil
Investigation Unit registered an
operational loss largely due to
declining profit margins suffered

by the Singapore operations. The
Singapore construction market is
expected to remain competitive
and the Unit will undertake cost
containment measures to mitigate
eroding gross margins.
In Singapore, the Unit carries out
geotechnical instrumentation,
soil and foundation investigation
and micro-piling works. It
remains to be a market leader
offering up-to-date methodology
in soil investigation, advance
automation and Wireless Remote
Automated System (WRAS) for
soil instrumentation packages

Soil & Foundation is a market leader in Geotechnical and Soil Investigation Services
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CEO’S STATEMENT ON
OPERATIONS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Soil instrumentation work carried out for projects in Singapore

tailor-made for applications in civil
engineering and environmental
related works. It also offers slope
protection and stabilisation work.
Going forward, the Group will
explore investment opportunities in
the mining and resource industries
as the Group believes this will offer
long-term growth for the Group
leveraging on the experience
gained in commodities trading and
drilling services.

The Geotechnical and Soil Investigation Unit commenced drilling
services at the Indonesian gold mine

8

SP Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2010

The Tyre and Auto Products Unit has exclusive distributorship in most ASEAN countries for GT branded tyres for passenger cars
and commercial vehicles

TYRE AND AUTO PRODUCTS UNIT
The Tyre and Auto Products Unit
reported revenue of $43.8 million,
12% higher than $39.3 million in
2009. This was primarily due to
improvement in export sales as
the economies stabilise, mitigating
the decline in Singapore sales.
The earnings have improved
mainly due to lower allowance for
doubtful trade receivables, offset
by lower operating margins and
higher allowance for inventory
obsolescence.
The Tyre and Auto Products Unit
expects the operating environment
to be challenging. To mitigate
this, it will be implementing certain
marketing initiatives jointly with the
suppliers in the export markets
to develop the GT branding and
market share.

The Tyre and Auto Products Unit
has exclusive distributorship in
ASEAN countries (except for
Indonesia and the Philippines) and
other countries for branded tyres,
namely, GT Radial and Bias Tyres
from Indonesia and China. Its
two principal suppliers, PT Gajah
Tunggal and GiTi Tire Group, are
the largest tyre manufacturers in
ASEAN and China respectively.
As the distributor for these
established brands, the Tyre and
Auto Products Unit distributes a
wide range of passenger car radial
tyres as well as bus bias and
radial tyres.
The Tyre and Auto Products Unit
also carries out retreading of bus
tyres under the franchise of the
US-based Bandag tyre retreading
system. The tyre retreading activity
complements the tyre distribution

business and enables the Unit
to offer a one-stop solution for
both new and retread tyre. The
Tyre and Auto Products Unit
is a key player in the total tyre
management service for the public
transport sector in Singapore.
The Management would like to
express its sincere appreciation
for the invaluable support provided
by its esteemed customers,
principals, suppliers, bankers,
business partners and parent
company. The Management is also
thankful to its Board of Directors
for their valuable guidance and our
committed staff for their dedication
and efforts.
Tony Wu
CEO
1 March 2011

SP Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2010

9

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Group Profit & Loss Account ($’000)

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

170,674

106,334

121,639

192,487

280,013

Profit before income tax
Income tax

3,765
(387)

2,289
(114)

1,874
(344)

868
(539)

4,387
(1,446)

Profit after income tax
Non-controlling interests

3,378
–

2,175
4

1,530
40

329
(53)

2,941
43

Net profit for the financial year

3,378

2,179

1,570

276

2,984

Plant and equipment
Other assets

1,544
74,820

1,224
55,200

1,502
47,392

1,388
50,241

2,033
67,771

Total assets

76,364

56,424

48,894

51,629

69,804

Shareholders' funds
Non-controlling interests
Total borrowings
Other liabilities

37,827
–
2,771
35,766

35,019
54
2,175
19,176

33,176
360
43
15,315

31,689
413
138
19,389

30,165
698
255
38,686

Total equity and liabilities

76,364

56,424

48,894

51,629

69,804

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

19.0
20.0
5.0
12.5
112.1

6.0
8.0
2.0
5.0
8.8

4.0
14.0
1.0
7.5
5.5

10.0
23.0
7.0
15.0
28.3

7.5
9.0
5.0
7.0
5.8

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

0.96
10.78
1.86
0.46

0.62
9.98
0.80
0.20

0.45
9.45
1.48
0.11

0.08
9.03
2.55
0.78

0.85
8.59
1.05
0.58

Revenue

Group Balance Sheet ($’000)

Share Prices (cents)
Last Transacted
High
Low
Average (arithmetic)
Turnover (million shares)
Financial Ratios
Earnings per share (cent)
Net assets per share (cents)
Price (high) to net assets ratio
Price (low) to net assets ratio

REVENUE
($’000)

PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX
($’000)

EARNINGS PER SHARE
(cent)

3,378

170,674

NET ASSETS PER SHARE
(cents)

0.96
9.98

2,175

106,334

09

10

10

09

10.78

0.62
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GROUP
STRUCTURE
As at 1 March 2011

100%

100%

SP Resources
International
Pte. Ltd.

SP Global
International
Pte. Ltd.

100%
Soil & Foundation
(Pte) Limited

100%
Ground Engineering
Technologies
Pte Ltd

100%
SP Energy
Pte. Ltd.

100%

100%
Globaltraco
International
Pte Ltd

100%
Globaltraco (M)
Sdn. Bhd.

SP Mining &
Engineering Pte. Ltd.

100%
Singapore
Bandag (Private)
Limited

100%
SP Machinery
Holding
Pte. Ltd. #

100%
Performance
Retreads Sdn. Bhd.

100%
S3 Engineering (S)
Pte. Ltd.#

99%
PT. SP Mining &
Engineering

1%

# These companies are in the process of being struck-off.
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DIRECTORS’
PROFILE

Standing (left to right): Chong Chou Yuen, Liem Chin Chiang, Wong Ann Chai, William Liem, Tan Lye Huat
Seated (left to right): Cheng Hong Kok, Peter Sung, Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)

Peter Sung
(Non-Independent)
Non-Executive Chairman since January
2002
Member, Remuneration Committee
since February 2006
Last re-appointed in April 2010
Proposed for re-appointment at AGM in
April 2011 (pursuant to S153(6) of the
Companies Act, Cap. 50)
Mr Sung is a senior advisor to Nuri
Holdings (S) Pte Ltd, the deemed
substantial shareholder of the
Company. He is also the chairman of
Calbert Pte. Ltd.
Mr Sung was a school teacher between
1961 and 1966. From 1966 to 1986,
he worked with Shell, Sime Darby
and Pilecon groups of companies
in Singapore and Malaysia in the
corporate planning, marketing, sales and
personnel functions. He was Singapore’s
ambassador to the Philippines between
1986 and 1988. Between 1988 and
1991, he was Minister of State in
Singapore with attachments to the
Ministries of Foreign Affairs, Home Affairs
and National Development. He was a
Member of the Singapore Parliament
from 1988 to 1996.
Since 1992, Mr Sung has been
associated with the Nuri, Gajah Tunggal

12

and Tuan Sing groups of companies
serving, at various times, as chairman,
director, chief executive and senior
advisor in different companies within
these groups. Mr Sung holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree with a First
Class Honours in Economics from the
University of Singapore.

Boediman Gozali
(alias Tony Wu)
(Non-Independent)
Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer since August 2010
Proposed for re-election at AGM in April
2011
Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)
joined the Company as Managing
Director and Chief Executive Officer
in August 2010. He also holds
directorships in subsidiaries of the
Company.
Mr Wu is concurrently the president
commissioner of PT. Indonesia Prima
Property, TBK, a company listed on
the Indonesian Stock Exchange. He is
also the chairman of several companies
in the Bestway group in Singapore,
namely, Bestway Holdings Pte Ltd,
Bestway Properties Pte Ltd and Bestway
Investment Asia Pte. Ltd. He also acts
as the chairman of Sanya Summer Mall
Department Store Ltd in Hainan, China.
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Mr Wu was a senior economist of The
Economist Intelligence Unit (SEA) Ltd in
the 1970s and he graduated from the
Institute of Marketing – United Kingdom
with a Diploma in Marketing.

Cheng Hong Kok
(Independent)
Non-Executive Director since May 2001
Chairman, Audit Committee since
October 2001
Chairman, Nominating Committee since
February 2006
Member, Remuneration Committee
since February 2006
Last re-elected in April 2010
Mr Cheng also sits on the boards
of two Singapore-listed companies,
Orchard Parade Holdings Ltd and Gul
Technologies Singapore Ltd.
Mr Cheng was on the boards of Giti
Tire Company Limited, Singapore
Petroleum Company Limited, Singapore
Refining Company Pte Ltd and SPC
Refining Company Pte Ltd. He held
various senior positions in Singapore
Petroleum Company Limited in
corporate planning, finance and
administration, supply and trading, and
marketing and distribution from 1970
to 1980 and became its president and
chief executive officer from 1981 to

1996. Through Singapore Petroleum
Company Limited, he was involved
in the Asean Council on Petroleum
(ASCOPE) for many years. He was
also a board member of the Singapore
Economic Development Board from
1987 to 1990 and a member of the
Government Economic Planning
Committee from 1989 to 1991.
Mr Cheng holds a Bachelor of Science
(Chemical Engineering) degree with First
Class Honours from the University of
London and attended the Advanced
Executive Management Program at
the J. L. Kellogg Graduate School of
Management, Northwestern University
in the USA. He was a Singapore State
Scholar as well as an Eisenhower Fellow.

Chong Chou Yuen
(Non-Independent)
Non-Executive Director since December
2005
Member, Audit Committee since June
2007
Last re-elected in April 2009
Mr Chong holds directorships in
subsidiaries of the Company, the PanWest group and the Tuan Sing group.
He is concurrently the chief financial
officer of Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
(listed on the Singapore Exchange),
the Company’s holding company.
Mr Chong is a board member and
chairman of the Audit Committee of the
Singapore Heart Foundation. He is also
a member of the Audit Sub-Committee
of Alexandra Health Pte. Ltd.,
managing Khoo Teck Puat Hospital.
Mr Chong’s career spans more than
30 years in finance & accounting
management in various industries
covering countries in the Asia Pacific,
Middle East and the Caribbean. Prior
to joining the Tuan Sing group in 2004,
Mr Chong was the regional finance
director, Asia-Pacific for Equant Pte.
Ltd. between 1997 and 2004. He was
the group finance director of Berger
International Ltd from 1994 to 1997.

He was formerly an advisor to
Zhongshan E-Fashion Dress &
Ornaments Co., Ltd and Shanghai
GT Nissin Food Co., Ltd. and a
commissioner of PT. Bukit Baiduri
Energi. Mr Liem was also the cofounder and chief executive officer of
Habitat Properties Pte Ltd.
He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
in Economics from the University of
California Los Angeles.

William Liem
(Non-Independent)
Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer since December 2009 until
August 2010
Non-Executive Director since August
2010
Member, Nominating Committee since
December 2009
Last re-elected in April 2009
Mr Liem joined the Board as a nonExecutive Director in March 2003 and
was appointed the Managing Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company in December 2009.
He relinquished his positions as
Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in August 2010
to spend more time on the developing
businesses of Tuan Sing Holdings
Limited.
Mr Liem is concurrently the executive
director and the chief executive
officer of Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
(listed on the Singapore Exchange),
the Company’s holding company.
He is also a non-executive director
of Gul Technologies Singapore Ltd
(listed on the Singapore Exchange). In
addition, Mr Liem holds directorships
in Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd (the
deemed substantial shareholder of the
Company), GITI Holdings Ltd, GT Asia
Pacific Holdings Pte Ltd and Grand
Hotel Group (previously listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange).

Mr Chong holds a Bachelor of
Accountancy and an MBA degree from
the National University of Singapore. He
is also a Fellow of the Institute of Certified
Public Accountants of Singapore.

Mr Liem had worked in Lehman
Brothers and the GITI group. He
obtained his Bachelor of Science
in Business from the University of
California at Berkeley and holds an
MBA from the Massachusetts Institute
of Technology.

Liem Chin Chiang

Tan Lye Huat

(Non-Independent)
Non-Executive Director since September
2004
Last re-elected in April 2008
Proposed for re-election at AGM in April
2011

(Independent)
Non-Executive Director since January
1999
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
since February 2006
Member, Audit Committee since January
1999

Mr Liem is concurrently a director of
Calbert Pte. Ltd.

Member, Nominating Committee since
February 2006
Last re-elected in April 2010
Mr Tan is the founder and chief
executive officer of HIM Governance
Private Limited, a governance solution
and services organization. He has
been actively engaged in corporate
governance work as well as volunteering
at a number of governance-related
associations. Mr Tan also holds
directorship in Japan Foods Holding Ltd.
(listed on the Singapore Exchange). He
is the independent chairman of Agis Pte
Ltd and regional advisor of Governance
for Owners LLP.
Mr Tan was a director of Yaan
Security Technology Ltd (nka China
Video Surveillance Limited) and Kian
Ho Bearings Ltd (both listed on the
Singapore Exchange), from which he
resigned in 2009.
Mr Tan is a member of the Institute
of Certified Public Accountants of
Singapore (ICPAS), a Fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA), member of
the Australian Institute of Company
Directors (AICD) as well as a Chartered
Director (C. Dir.) of the Institute of
Directors (IOD, UK).

Mr Wong Ann Chai
(Independent)
Non-Executive Director since April 2008
Member, Audit Committee since July
2008
Last re-elected in April 2009
Proposed for re-election at AGM in April
2011
Mr Wong is presently an executive
director in Nomura Singapore Limited,
Investment Banking Division. Nomura
Singapore Limited is a leading financial
services group and the preeminent
Asia-based investment bank with
worldwide reach.
Prior to this, Mr Wong headed the
Group Planning function in the chief
executive officer’s office of DBS Bank
Limited, and had served in the Equity
Capital Markets department and
Consumer Banking Group. At DBS, he
also served as director on the boards
of The Bank of the Philippines Islands,
BPI Capital, DBS-Cholamandalam
Finance Limited. He is currently a
member of Nanyang Business School
Post Graduate Advisory Board.
Mr Wong graduated from the University
of Oxford with a Bachelor of Arts
(Honours) and Massachusetts Institute
of Technology-Sloan School of
Management with an MBA.
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CORPORATE
DIRECTORY
SP CORPORATION LIMITED
Registered Office:
9 Oxley Rise
#03-02 The Oxley
Singapore 238697
Tel: (65) 6223 7211
Fax: (65) 6224 1085 (General)
Fax: (65) 6733 3835 (Corporate Affairs)
Head/Corporate Office:
30 Robinson Road
#04-01 Robinson Towers
Singapore 048546
Tel: (65) 6645 3260
Fax: (65) 6645 3261
Website: www.spcorp.com.sg
Email: enquiry@spcorp.com.sg
Board of Directors:
Peter Sung (Chairman)
Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)
(Chief Executive Officer)

Share Registrar
B.A.C.S. Private Limited
63 Cantonment Road
Singapore 089758
Tel: (65) 6593 4848
Fax: (65) 6593 4847
External Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Partner-in-charge: Loi Chee Keong
6 Shenton Way
#32-00 DBS Building Tower Two
Singapore 068809
Tel: (65) 6224 8288
Fax: (65) 6538 6166
Internal Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Partner-in-charge: Ng Siew Quan
8 Cross Street
#17-00 PWC Building
Singapore 048424
Tel: (65) 6236 3388
Fax: (65) 6236 3300

Cheng Hong Kok
Chong Chou Yuen
Liem Chin Chiang
William Liem
Tan Lye Huat
Wong Ann Chai
Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)
Chief Executive Officer
Gan Pin Pin
Chief Financial Officer
Mary Goh Swon Ping
Group Company Secretary
Foo Win-Nie
Financial Controller
Tan Chiu Ling
Group Finance Manager
Grace Teo
Assistant Human Resource Manager

COMMODITIES TRADING UNIT
SP Resources International Pte. Ltd.
30 Robinson Road
#04-01 Robinson Towers
Singapore 048546
Tel: (65) 6645 3260
Fax: (65) 6645 3261
SP Global International Pte. Ltd.
30 Robinson Road
#04-01 Robinson Towers
Singapore 048546
Tel: (65) 6645 3260
Fax: (65) 6645 3261
Website: www.spglobal-sin.com
Eddie Tan Yee Sin
Managing Director
Lee Shi Hui
Finance Manager
Adeline Chua Lay Beng
Assistant Manager, Consumer Products

GEOTECHNICAL AND SOIL
INVESTIGATION UNIT
Soil & Foundation (Pte) Limited
7 Harrison Road
#02-00 Harrison Industrial Building
Singapore 369650
Tel: (65) 6281 7622
Fax: (65) 6281 6028
Website: www.sf.com.sg
Joseph Yong Fook Onn
Managing Director
Chai Woon Tong
Finance Manager
Peter Ong
Marketing Manager
Ali Mohamed
Contracts Manager
William Chow
Operations Manager
Soil Investigation
Christopher Chew
Manager
Soil Instrumentation & Monitoring
Mike Tan
Operations Manager
Soil Instrumentation & Monitoring
Kyaw Win
Manager
Micropiling & Slope Stabilisation
Liu Bo
Manager, Survey
San San Aye
Manager, Laboratory
PT. SP Mining & Engineering
15th Floor Wisma Sudirman Suite 01
Jl. Jend. Sudirman Kav 34
Jakarta 10220
Phone: (62 21) 570 8588/570 0737
Fax: (62 21) 570 8919
I Gde Budhiwan
General Manager
Business & Operations
Christin Budiman
General Manager
Finance, Administrative & HR
Marcius Manalu
Site Manager
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FINANCIAL
CALENDAR
TYRE AND AUTO PRODUCTS
UNIT
Globaltraco International Pte Ltd
58 Tuas Basin Link
Singapore 638774
Tel: (65) 6265 3088
Fax: (65) 6262 2133
Website: www.globaltraco.com
Globaltraco International Pte Ltd
– Vietnam Representative Office
OSC – VTP Building
8 Nguyen Hue, Dist. 1
7th Floor, Suite F
Tel: (84 8) 3822 8369
Fax: (84 8) 3823 1141

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010
Announcement of results for the first quarter

29 April 2010

ended 31 March 2010
Announcement of results for the second quarter

28 July 2010

and half-year ended 30 June 2010
Announcement of results for the third quarter

28 October 2010

ended 30 September 2010
Announcement of full-year results

28 January 2011

for the financial year ended 31 December 2010
Singapore Bandag (Private)
Limited
58 Tuas Basin Link
Singapore 638774
Tel: (65) 6265 1383
Fax: (65) 6262 2133
Performance Retreads Sdn. Bhd.
53 Jalan Cemerlang
Taman Perindustrian Cemerlang
81800 Ulu Tiram, Johor Darul
Takzim, Malaysia
Tel: (60 7) 861 7671
Fax: (60 7) 871 7672
Eddie Tan Yee Sin
Managing Director

Dispatch of Annual Report 2010

23 March 2011

58th Annual General Meeting

7 April 2011

FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2011
Proposed announcement of results for the first quarter

April 2011

ending 31 March 2011
Proposed announcement of results for the second quarter

July 2011

and half-year ending 30 June 2011
Phey Mui Noi
Senior Finance Manager
Lim Chin Heng
Export Sales Manager

Proposed announcement of results for the third quarter
ending 30 September 2011
Proposed announcement of full-year results

Andy Loh Chih Wei
Sales and Marketing Manager

October 2011

January/February

for the financial year ending 31 December 2011

2012

Geena Loh Fong Yee
Assistant Sales Manager,
Export and Advertising & Promotion

Note:

The dates for the proposed financial results announcement for 2011 are
indicative only and are subject to change
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Corporate Structure

Shareholders

Nominating Committee

Board of Directors
Remuneration Committee

Management

Commodities
Trading Unit

Geotechnical & Soil
Investigation Unit

Audit Committee

Tyre & Auto
Products Unit

The Group continues to be committed to high standards of
corporate conduct in conformity with the spirit of the Code
of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”). The Board and
Management believe that good corporate governance is key
to the integrity of the Group and essential to the long-term
sustainability of the Group’s businesses and performance.
To discharge its governance function, the Board of Directors
and its Committees have established policies and rules to
govern their activities. The Board and its Committees are
guided by their respective Terms of Reference as provided for in
the Company’s Corporate Governance Policies Manual. During
the year, the Terms of References of the Remuneration and the
Audit Committees were updated and the Risk Management
Framework revised to enhance their practical applications.
This Report describes the Company’s corporate governance
practices with reference to each Guideline of the Code clearly
indicated. The Board is pleased to report that for the financial
year ended 31 December 2010, the Company adhered to the
principles and guidelines of the Code as set out below.

I.

BOARD MATTERS

The Board oversees the overall strategy and business direction
of the Group and is collectively responsible for its success.
The Management also plays a pivotal role in providing Board
members with complete, adequate and timely information to
assist the Board in the fulfilment of its responsibilities.

16

SP Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2010

Internal Auditors

Whistle Blowing
Committee

Principle 1: Effective Board To Lead And Control The
Company
Guideline 1.1
Roles of Board
The Board recognises that its principal functions include, inter
alia, providing entrepreneurial leadership, setting strategic
aims, monitoring Management’s performance, establishing a
framework for prudent and effective control as well as setting
values and standards for the Company.
Guideline 1.2
Objective Decision Making
The Board oversees the business affairs of the Group and
works with the Management to take objective decisions in the
interest of the Group.
Guideline 1.3
Delegation of Authority to Board Committee
The Board is supported in its task by Committees which have
been established to assist it in the discharge of its responsibilities
and enhance the Company’s corporate governance framework.
These committees include the Nominating Committee (“NC”),
the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and the Audit Committee
(“AC”). Each Committee has its own specific Terms of Reference
setting out the scope of its duties and responsibilities, rules and
regulations, and procedures governing the manner in which it
is to operate and how decisions are to be taken.

The Board approves transactions exceeding certain threshold
limits, while delegating authority for transactions below those
limits to its Committees and the Management via a structured
Delegation of Authority Framework. This Framework is reviewed
on a regular basis and revised accordingly when necessary. The
Board Committees and the Management remain accountable
to the Board.

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

corporate/financial restructuring and corporate
exercises
budgets/forecasts
policies & procedures, delegation of authority matrix,
code of conduct & business ethics
material financial/funding arrangements and capital
expenditures

Guideline 1.4
Meetings of Board and Board Committees
The Board and Board Committees met regularly and as
warranted by particular circumstances. On occasions when
Directors were unable to attend meetings in person, telephonic
means were used as allowed under the Company’s Articles
of Association. To enable members of the Board and its
Committees to prepare for the meetings, agendas were
circulated at least 7 days in advance and most materials
dispatched 1 week before the meetings.

Guideline 1.6
Continuous Training & Development of Directors
During the year, the Management kept the Directors up-to-date
on pertinent developments in the business including corporate
laws and governance as well as regulatory changes such as
financial reporting standards and industry-related matters.
Such periodic updates were provided to Directors to facilitate
the discharge of their duties. Some Directors participated in/
attended 3rd party-run programmes to enhance their knowledge
to better serve the Company.

A record of the Directors’ attendance at meetings of the
Board and Board Committees during the financial year ended
31 December 2010 is set out below:

Guidelines 1.7 & 1.8
Appointment and Training for First-time Directors
Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu) was appointed Managing

Board

Audit
Committee

Total Number of Meetings

5

Peter Sung

5

2010 Meeting Attendance

1

Remuneration
Committee

Nominating
Committee

General
Meeting

5

1

1

1

–

1

–

1

2

–

–

–

–

5

5

1

1

1

Chong Chou Yuen

5

5

–

–

0

Liem Chin Chiang

4

–

–

–

1

William Liem

5

–

–

1

1

Tan Lye Huat

5

5

1

1

1

Wong Ann Chai

4

4

–

–

1

Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)
Cheng Hong Kok

Note 1:

Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu) was appointed as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer on 1 August 2010.

Guideline 1.5
Internal Guidelines on Matters Requiring Board Approval
The Company has adopted internal guidelines governing
matters that require Board approval. During the year, the
Board reviewed and approved the Group’s annual budget and
business plans; and on a monthly basis monitors the financial
performance of the Group. The Board also deliberated on other
key business activities and material transactions that exceeded
the limits of authority delegated to the Management or Board
Committees.
As specified under the Delegation of Authority Framework
mentioned earlier, significant matters which require Board’s
approval include:
(i)

material acquisition
investments

and

disposal

of

assets/

Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company during
the year. To ensure that he is familiar with the Company’s
business and governance practices, he was furnished with the
Company’s previous annual reports and an induction package
in the form of a compact disc setting out a director’s duties and
obligations and detailed guidelines stipulated in the following:
•
•
•
•
•

Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50;
Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited;
Code of Corporate Governance 2005;
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company; and
Corporate Governance Policies of the Company.

A formal letter of appointment, signed by the Chairman of
the Board, was furnished to Mr Gozali on his appointment as
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer.
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Principle 2: Strong And Independent Element On The
Board
Guideline 2.1
Composition and Independent Element of the Board
The Board comprises eight Directors, seven of whom are
non-Executive Directors with three of them independent.
During the year, the NC conducted its annual review of the
Directors’ independence and was satisfied that the Company
has complied with the guidelines of the Code, including the
guideline that at least one-third of the Board is made up of
Independent Directors.
Independent Director

Executive Director
13%
62%

87%

non-Executive Director

38%

non-Independent Director

Guideline 2.2
Independence of Directors
The NC, in its deliberation as to the independence of a
Director, took into account examples of relationships as set
out in the Code. It also considered whether a Director had
business relationships with the Group, and if so, whether
such relationships could interfere, or be reasonably perceived
to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent
judgements. In this respect, the NC confirmed that Messrs
Cheng Hong Kok, Tan Lye Huat and Wong Ann Chai remain
Independent Directors of the Company.
Guideline 2.3
Composition and Size of the Board
The NC conducted its annual review on the composition of the
Board which comprises members from different backgrounds
and whose core competencies, qualifications, skills and
experiences are extensive. Taking into account the scope
and nature of the operations of the Group, the NC considered
the present Board size of eight to be appropriate to facilitate
effective decision making for the current needs and demands
of the Group’s businesses.
A summary of the composition of the Board and its Committees
is set out below:
No.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Name
Peter Sung
Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)
Cheng Hong Kok
Chong Chou Yuen
Liem Chin Chiang
William Liem
Tan Lye Huat
Wong Ann Chai

Legend: NED: Non-Executive Director
ID: Independent Director
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Guideline 2.4
Competency of the Board
To assist the NC’s annual review on the Directors’ mix of skills
and experiences that the Board requires to function competently
and efficiently, the Directors updated their Board of Directors
Competency Matrix form by providing additional information (if
any) in their areas of specialisation and expertise.
The NC, having reviewed the returns, is satisfied that members
of the Board possess the relevant core competencies in areas
such as accounting and finance, business and management
experience, and strategic planning. In particular, the Executive
Director possesses a good industry knowledge while the
non-Executive Directors, who are mostly professionals in their
selected fields, are able to take a broader view of the Group’s
activities, contribute their valuable experiences and provide
independent judgement during Board deliberations.
Guidelines 2.5 & 2.6
Non-Executive Directors
During the year, the non-Executive Directors constructively
challenged and helped develop the Group’s business strategies.
Management’s progress in implementing such agreed business
strategies were monitored by the non-Executive Directors.
The non-Executive Directors communicated without the
presence of Management as and when the need arose. The
Company also benefited from the Management’s ready access
to its Directors for guidance and exchange of views both
within and outside the formal environment of Board and Board
Committees meetings.
Principle 3: Clear Division Of Responsibilities And Balance
Of Power And Authority
Guidelines 3.1 & 3.3
Separate Role of Chairman and CEO
The Company has different individuals assuming the Chairman
and CEO functions so as to ensure effective supervision and
maintenance of an appropriate balance of power and authority.

Status

Board

NED, NID
ED, NID
NED, ID
NED, NID
NED, NID
NED, NID
NED, ID
NED, ID

C
M
M
M
M
M
M
M

ED: Executive Director
C: Chairman
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Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nominating
Committee

M
C
M

M

C

M
M

C

M
M

NID: Non-Independent Director
M: Member

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman, Mr Peter
Sung and the CEO, Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu), is also
clearly established in the Company’s Corporate Governance
Policies Manual which is reviewed and updated periodically.
The Chairman manages the business of the Board whilst the
CEO and his management team translate the Board’s decisions
into executive action. The CEO has executive responsibilities for
the Group’s businesses and is accountable to the Board. There
is no familial relationship between the Chairman, Mr Peter Sung
and Mr William Liem (the former CEO)/Mr Boediman Gozali
(alias Tony Wu) (the incumbent CEO).

Guidelines 4.2 & 4.3
Roles and Responsibilities of NC
The NC reviewed the independence of the Directors
as mentioned under Guideline 2.2. It also considered the
requirements of the Company’s Articles of Association which
provides that at each annual general meeting (“AGM”), one-third
of the Board is required to retire and provided always that every
director shall retire from office at least once every 3 years. In
this respect, the NC has recommended and the Board has
agreed for the following Directors to retire and seek re-election
at the forthcoming AGM:
(a)
(b)

In view of the above, there is no requirement for a lead
independent director to be appointed.
Guideline 3.2
Roles and Responsibilities of Chairman
The Chairman, Mr Peter Sung who is non-Executive, brings
with him a wealth of experience and leads the Board to ensure
its effectiveness on all aspects of its role. Prior to each Board
meeting, the Chairman determines the agenda for the meeting
and instructs the Company Secretary to disseminate it to all
Directors at least 7 days before the meeting. He leads the
meetings and ensures full discussion of each agenda item,
as appropriate. The Chairman ensures that Board members
engage the Management in constructive debate on various
matters including strategic issues. He also oversees the quality
and timeliness of information flow between the Management
and the Board.
Principle 4: Formal And Transparent Process For The
Appointment Of Directors To The Board
Guideline 4.1
NC Membership
The NC consists of the following three members with a majority,
including the chairman, being independent Directors:
•
•
•

Mr Cheng Hong Kok, Chairman
(Independent and non-Executive)
Mr Tan Lye Huat
(Independent and non-Executive)
Mr William Liem
(non-Independent and non-Executive)

The NC is guided by its written Terms of Reference as detailed
in the Company’s Corporate Governance Policies Manual
which stipulates that its principal responsibilities include, inter
alia, maintaining a formal and transparent process for the
appointment of new Directors to the Board, determining the
independence of Directors and the appropriate Board size. Key
Terms of Reference are listed in the Appendix to this Report.
During the year, the NC held one scheduled meeting with full
attendance.

Mr Liem Chin Chiang; and
Mr Wong Ann Chai.

In addition, the Chairman of the Board, Mr Peter Sung, who
is over the age of 70 years, is required to retire pursuant to
Section 153 of the Companies Act at the forthcoming AGM. The
NC, having reviewed and considered all aspects, recommends
that Mr Sung be re-appointed as a Director and remain as
Chairman of the Board.
Guideline 4.4
Commitments of Directors Sitting on Multiple Boards
In assisting the NC to determine whether Directors who are on
multiple boards have committed adequate time to discharge
their responsibilities towards the Company’s affairs, internal
guidelines have been established to address the competing
time commitments faced by Directors serving on multiple
boards.
The NC, having reviewed each Directors’ outside directorships
as well as each Director’s attendance and contributions to the
Board, is satisfied that the Directors have spent adequate time
on the Company’s affairs in discharging their responsibilities.
Guideline 4.5
Process for Selecting and Appointment of New
Directors
The Company has established the following process for the
selection and appointment of new directors:
1.

The NC determines a suitable size of the Board;
and evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge and
experience of members of the Board required to add
value and facilitate effective decision-making, after
taking into consideration the scope and nature of the
operations of the Company.

2.

The NC considers the various sources of seeking
suitable candidate(s) either through internal promotion
such as via the Company’s succession planning;
or recommendations from Directors/substantial
shareholders; or external sources e.g. search
consultants.
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3.

4.

Short-listed candidate(s) to furnish their curriculum vitae
stating in detail their qualification, working experience,
employment history, and to complete the following
prescribed NC Forms:
(i)

NC2 – Director’s Declaration on Independence;

(ii)

NC3 – Internal Guidelines for Directors Serving
on Multiple Boards; and

(iii)

NC4 – Board of Directors Competency Matrix.

The NC evaluates the capabilities of the candidate(s)
in areas of academic and professional qualifications,
knowledge and experiences in relation to the business
of the Group, independence status and other
directorships.

5.

The NC evaluates how the short-listed candidate(s)
will fit in the overall desired competency matrix of the
Board.

6.

The NC makes recommendation to the Board for
approval. The Board is to ensure that the selected
candidate is aware of the expectations and the level of
commitment required.

During the year, the NC, having reviewed Mr Boediman
Gozali’s (alias Tony Wu) background and areas of expertise,
recommended him to the Board to appoint him as the
Company’s Managing Director and CEO on 1 August 2010, in
place of Mr William Liem who resigned then.

Guideline 4.6
Information on Directors
Key information of each member of the Board including
directorships and chairmanships both present and those held
over the preceding 3 years in other listed company, other
major appointments, academic/professional qualifications,
membership/chairmanship in Board committees, date of first
appointment and last re-election, etc. can all be found under
the Directors’ Profile section of this Annual Report.

Principle 5: Assessment Of The Effectiveness Of The
Board
Guideline 5.1
Board Performance
The Company has implemented a formal process to assess the
Board’s effectiveness as a whole and its ability to discharge its
responsibilities in providing stewardship, corporate governance
and oversight of Management’s performance.
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Guideline 5.2
Board Evaluation
The evaluation of the Board is carried out on an annual
basis at the end of the year. Each Director assesses the
Board’s performance as a whole by updating their respective
feedback in their completed Board Assessment Checklist, a
prescribed form established for this purpose.
The updated evaluation returns by the Directors were
submitted to the Company Secretary for collation and the
consolidated responses were presented to the NC for review
and discussion. The NC has, after the review, provided the
relevant feedback to the Board, Board Committees and
individual Director as appropriate. Where necessary, follow
up actions will be taken.
Guidelines 5.3 & 5.5
Performance Criteria
With regard to the criteria applied in assessing the Board’s
performance, the NC reviewed the Company’s share price
performance over a five-year period vis-à-vis the Singapore
Straits Times Index and industry peers. Other performance
criteria employed to assess the Board’s performance include
financial indicators such as Return on Equity and Return on
Assets.
Guideline 5.4
Evaluation of Individual Director
The Company does not conduct any evaluation of individual
Director. Nevertheless, the NC took note of every individual
Director’s attendance at meetings of the Board, Board
Committees and General Meetings; participation in
discussions at meetings; knowledge of and contacts in the
regions where the Group operates; the individual Director’s
functional expertise and his commitment of time to the
Company.
Principle 6: Board Members Should Be Provided With
Complete, Adequate And Timely Information
Guideline 6.1
Board Access to Information
To enable the Board to fulfil its responsibilities, it obtains
information it deems adequate, complete and in a timely
manner from the Management. A system of communication
between the Management, the Board and its Committees has
been established and improved over time.
The Board, its Committees and every Director have separate
and independent access to the Management.
Guideline 6.2
Provision of Information to the Board
In addition to the annual budget and business plans submitted
to the Board for approval, the Board was provided with
management accounts on a monthly basis which contain key

performance indicators informing the Directors of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects. The Management also
kept the Board apprised of material variances between the
actual results, corresponding period of last year and the
budget, when updating the Board on the Group’s performance,
with appropriate explanation on such variances.
Guideline 6.3
Board Access to the Company Secretary
The role of the Company Secretary is clearly defined in the
Company’s Corporate Governance Policies Manual which
includes, inter alia, advising the Board on all governance
matters and ensuring that all Board procedures are followed.
Under the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretary
ensures good information flow within the Board and its
Committees and between the Management and non-Executive
Directors.
Directors have separate and independent access to the
Company Secretary through e-mail, telephone, mobile and
face-to-face meetings. During the year, the Company Secretary
attended all meetings of the Board and its Committees and the
minutes of such meetings were promptly circulated to all Board
and Committee members as appropriate.
Guideline 6.4
Appointment and Removal of Company Secretary
The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary
are subject to the approval of the Board as stipulated in
the Company’s Corporate Governance Policies Manual. The
incumbent Company Secretary was appointed in November
2005.
Guideline 6.5
Board Access to Independent Professional Advice
In the furtherance of their duties, the Independent Directors
will seek independent professional advice, where appropriate,
at the Company’s expense. There was no such requirement
during the year under review.

II.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Matters concerning remuneration of the Board, senior executives
and other employees who are related to the controlling
shareholders and/or the Directors (if any) are handled by the
RC whose primary function is to develop formal and transparent
policies on remuneration matters in the Company. The RC also
reviews and ensures that the Company’s remuneration system
is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the required talents
to run the Company successfully.
Matters which are required to be disclosed in the annual
remuneration report have been sufficiently disclosed in this
Report under Principles 7, 8 and 9; and in the Financial
Statements of the Company and of the Group.

Principle 7: Procedures For Developing Remuneration
Policies
Guideline 7.1
Remuneration Committee
The RC comprises the following three Directors, all of whom
are non-Executive and the majority, including the Chairman,
being independent:
•
•
•

Mr Tan Lye Huat, Chairman
(Independent and non-Executive)
Mr Cheng Hong Kok
(Independent and non-Executive)
Mr Peter Sung
(non-Independent and non-Executive)

The RC is guided by its written Terms of Reference as stipulated
in the Company’s Corporate Governance Policies Manual. Key
Terms of Reference are listed in the Appendix to this Report.
During the year, the RC held one scheduled meeting attended
by all the members.
Guideline 7.2
Remuneration Framework
To attract, retain and motivate Directors and employees, the RC
proposed appropriate remuneration frameworks for adoption by
the Board. Such frameworks are reviewed periodically to ensure
that they remain competitive and relevant.
During the year, the RC considered and approved the CEO’s
remuneration package which includes salary, bonus and
benefits in kind. In addition, the RC reviewed the performance
of the Group’s senior executives and considered the CEO’s
recommendation for bonus and remuneration proposal for
all senior executives. No member of the RC was involved in
deciding his own remuneration.
Guideline 7.3
RC Access to Advice on Remuneration Matters
The RC has access to the advice of external experts in the field
of executive compensation, where required.
Principle 8: Level And Mix Of Remuneration
Guidelines 8.1 & 8.5
Remuneration of Executive Directors
The Company’s remuneration package for its Executive
Director comprised both fixed and variable components. The
variable component is performance related and is linked to the
Company’s performance as well as the Executive Director’s
performance. This is designed to align Director’s interests
with those of shareholders’ and link rewards to corporate and
individual performance.
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As stipulated in the Company’s Remuneration Framework,
Executive Director(s) and senior executive(s) do not receive
Directors’ fees from the Company or from its subsidiaries/
associated companies if they are appointed to these boards.

Guidelines 8.3 & 8.6
Service Contract
The Executive Director has an employment contract with
the Company which can be terminated by either party giving
notice of resignation/termination. The appointment of such
senior position is on a long term basis and no onerous removal
clauses are contained in his letter of employment.

In addition, the Group’s remuneration packages take into
consideration industry benchmarks gathered from companies
in comparable industries.

Guideline 8.4
Long-term Incentive Scheme
The Company does not have any long-term incentive scheme
like offer of shares or grant of options or any other forms of
deferred remuneration.

Guideline 8.2
Remuneration of non-Executive Director
The Board concurred with the RC’s proposal for non-Executive
Directors’ fees for the year ended 31 December 2010. The RC
and the Board are of the view that the remuneration of the
Directors is appropriate and not excessive, taking into account
factors such as effort and time spent, and the increasingly
onerous responsibilities of the Directors.

Principle 9: Disclosure On Remuneration
Guidelines 9.1 & 9.2
Remuneration of Directors & Top Key Executives
Remuneration of Directors of the Company is disclosed in
bands of $250,000. A summary of each non-Executive and
Executive Director’s remuneration paid or payable by the
Company for FY2010 is set out below:

The fees for non-Executive Directors are subject to shareholders’
approval at the AGM.

Breakdown of Remuneration in Percentage (%)
No.
1.

Name of Directors

Fees

Peter Sung

2.

Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)

3.

Cheng Hong Kok

4.

Chong Chou Yuen

5.

Liem Chin Chiang

2

3

3

Salary

1

Benefitsin-kind

Variable
Bonus

Total

Total Remuneration
in Compensation
Bands of $250,000

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

< $250,000

0%

66%

1%

33%

100%

< $250,000

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

< $250,000

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

< $250,000

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

< $250,000

6.

William Liem

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

< $250,000

7.

Tan Lye Huat

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

< $250,000

8.

Wong Ann Chai

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

< $250,000

Total Directors’ Remuneration (%)

45%

36%

1%

18%

100%

Notes:
1

The salary amount shown is inclusive of allowances and CPF.

2

Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu) joined the Group on 1 August 2010. If he had joined as from 1 January 2010, his remuneration would have been in the range

3

No Directors’ fees will be paid to Mr William Liem and Mr Chong Chou Yuen since they are executives of related corporation i.e. the Company’s holding company,

of $500,000 – S$749,999. Mr Wu is the uncle of Mr William Liem who is a non-Executive Director of the Company.

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited.
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Remuneration of Top 4 Executives (Other than the Company’s Executive Director)
The table below sets out the remuneration received by executives that the Company considers senior enough and appropriate for
disclosure purpose. The ranges of gross remuneration received by the top four executives in the Company and its subsidiaries,
but do not include any associated companies, are presented as follows:

No.

Name of Top 4 Executives

Breakdown of Remuneration in
Percentage (%)
Salary1

Benefitsin-kind

Variable
Bonus2

Total

Total Remuneration
in Compensation
Bands of $250,000

Position

1.

Eddie Tan Yee Sin **

Deputy Managing
Director of
subsidiaries

71%

0%

29%

100%

< $250,000

2.

Joseph Yong Fook Onn

Managing Director
of subsidiaries

89%

0%

11%

100%

< $250,000

3.

Grant Timothy Gerard *

Managing Director
of subsidiary

75%

11%

14%

100%

$250,000 – $499,999

4.

Gan Pin Pin ***

Group Financial
Controller

72%

0%

28%

100%

$250,000 – $499,999

76%

3%

21%

100%

Total Executives’ Remuneration (%)
Notes:
1
2

The salary amount shown is inclusive of allowances such as fixed transport allowance and CPF.
The variable bonus amount shown is inclusive of CPF.

*
**
***

Mr Grant Timothy Gerard joined the Group on 22 February 2010 and his last day of service as Managing Director of a subsidiary was 21 February 2011.
Mr Eddie Tan Yee Sin has been promoted to the position of Managing Director of subsidiaries with effect from 14 January 2011.
Ms Gan Pin Pin has been promoted to the position of Chief Financial Officer with effect from 14 January 2011.

Guideline 9.3
Employee Related to Directors/CEO
Save as disclosed above, there is no Group employee related to
a Director or the CEO, whose remuneration exceeded $150,000
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010.
Guideline 9.4
Employee Share Scheme
The Company does not have any employee share scheme.

III.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board recognises the importance of providing accurate
and relevant information on a timely basis. In this respect, the
AC reviews all financial statements and recommends them
to the Board for approval. In addition, the AC ensures that
the Company maintains a sound system of internal controls
to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets as well as to manage potential risks.
Principle 10: Presentation of A Balanced and
Understandable Assessment of the Company’s
Performance, Position and Prospects
Guideline 10.1
Accountability for Accurate Information

release of the Group’s financial results and that the results
provide a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospects.
To assist the Board in discharging its responsibility, the
Company has established a system whereby business and
finance heads of individual subsidiaries and business units
provide written representations to the Management who would
in turn furnish an overall representation to the AC and the
Board confirming, inter alia, the integrity of the Group’s financial
statements.
On a quarterly basis, the Management issues a representation
letter to the AC confirming that the financial processes and
controls are in place, highlighting material financial risks and
impacts and providing updates on status of significant financial
issues of the Group.
In accordance with the stock exchange’s requirements, the
Board issued negative assurance statements in its quarterly
financial results announcements, confirming to the best of its
knowledge, that nothing had come to the attention of the Board
which might render the financial statements false or misleading
in any material aspect.

In discharging its responsibility of providing accurate relevant
information on a timely basis, the Board ensures the timely
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Guideline 10.2
Management Accounts
The Management updated the Board regularly on the Group’s
business activities and financial performance by providing
operations reports on a monthly basis. Such reports compared
the Group’s actual performance against the approved budget
and where appropriate, against forecast. They also highlighted
key business indicators and major issues that are relevant to
the Group’s performance.
Principle 11: Establishment Of Audit Committee With
Written Terms of Reference
Guidelines 11.1 & 11.8
AC Membership
The AC comprises the following four Directors, all of whom
are non-Executive and the majority, including the Chairman,
being independent:
•
•
•
•

Mr Cheng Hong Kok, Chairman
(Independent and non-Executive)
Mr Chong Chou Yuen
(non-Independent and non-Executive)
Mr Tan Lye Huat
(Independent and non-Executive)
Mr Wong Ann Chai
(Independent and non-Executive)

During the year, the AC held five scheduled meetings, which
most members attended.
Guideline 11.2
Expertise of AC Members
The Board has ensured that all the AC members, having the
necessary accounting and/or related financial management
expertise, are appropriately qualified to discharge their
responsibilities.
Guidelines 11.3 and 11.4
Roles and Responsibilities of AC
The AC is guided by its Terms of Reference which stipulate that
its principal functions include, inter alia, reviewing the annual
audit plan (both internal and external), the systems of internal
control and management of financial risks, the effectiveness
and adequacy of the internal audit function which is outsourced
to a professional firm, regulatory compliance matters, the risk
management framework, the appointment/re-appointment/
removal of External Auditors and their remuneration. Key
Terms of Reference of the AC are listed in the Appendix to
this Report.
On a quarterly basis, the AC also reviews the interested person
transactions and the financial results announcements of the
Company before their submission to the Board for approval.
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The AC has explicit authority to investigate any matter within
its Terms of Reference. It has full access to, and has had the
full co-operation of the Management. It also has full discretion
to invite any Director or any member of the Management to
attend its meetings.
Guidelines 11.5 and 11.6
External & Internal Auditors
In addition, the AC reviewed the non-audit services provided
by the External Auditors as part of the AC’s assessment of the
External Auditors’ independence. The AC is of the view that
the non-audit services (namely as tax consultants) provided by
the External Auditors in 2010 did not prejudice their objectivity
and independence.
The Company’s Internal and External Auditors were invited to
make presentations to the AC during the year. They also met
separately with the AC without the presence of Management.
Guideline 11.7
Whistle Blowing Policy
To encourage proper work ethics and eradicate any internal
improprieties, unethical acts, malpractices, fraudulent acts,
corruption and/or criminal activities in the Group, the Company
implemented a Whistle Blowing Policy. The Policy stipulates the
mechanism by which concerns about plausible improprieties
in matters of financial reporting, etc, may be raised. A
Whistle Blowing Committee (“WBC”) had been established
for this purpose. In addition, a dedicated secured e-mail
address allows whistle blowers to contact the WBC and the
AC Chairman directly.
The Company’s Whistle Blowing Policy allows not just
employees but also external parties to raise concerns and
offer reassurance that they will be protected from reprisals or
victimisation for whistle blowing in good faith.
Assisted by the WBC, the AC addresses issues/concerns
raised and arranges for investigation and/or follow-up of
appropriate action. The AC reports to the Board any issues/
concerns received by it and the WBC, at the ensuing Board
meeting. Should the AC or WBC receive reports relating to
serious offences, and/or criminal activities in the Group, they
and the Board have access to the appropriate external advice
where necessary. Where appropriate or required, a report shall
be made to the relevant government authorities for further
investigation/action.
Whistle Blowing Committee
¾
The WBC consists of:
•
•
•

CEO
Chief Financial Officer
Company Secretary

The WBC is empowered to:
•

•

•

look into all issues/concerns relating to the Group
(except for issues/concerns that are directed specifically
or affecting any member of the WBC which are dealt
with by the AC);
make the necessary reports and recommendations to
the AC or the Board of Directors for their review and
further action, if deemed required by them; and
access the appropriate external advice where necessary
and, where appropriate or required, report to the
relevant government authorities for further investigation/
action.

The Group takes concerns of the integrity and honesty of its
employees very seriously. A copy of the Whistle Blowing Policy
has been disseminated to all staff to encourage the report
of any behaviour or action that anyone reasonably believes
might be suspicious, against any rules/regulations/accounting
standards as well as internal policies. The whistle blowers could
also email to the AC Chairman directly and in confidence and
his/her identity is protected from reprisals within the limits of
the law.
Principle 12: Sound System Of Internal Controls
Guideline 12.1
Internal Controls System
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound
system of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investments and the Group’s assets. The AC oversees and
ensures that such system has been appropriately implemented
and monitored.
During the year, the AC reviewed reports submitted by the
External and Internal Auditors relating to the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal controls, including the adequacy of the
Group’s internal financial controls, operational and compliance
controls.
A Minimum Acceptance Control system has been implemented
to enhance the Group’s internal control function for areas
such as finance, operations and compliance. The internal
control measures aim to ensure that the Group’s assets are
safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained, and
that financial information used within the business and for
publication is reliable.
During the year, the AC reviewed and recommended to the
Board a revised Risk Management Framework, which the Board
approved for implementation. The risk management system
has been integrated throughout the Group and has become an
essential part of its business planning and monitoring process.
On an annual basis, the AC reviews and reports to the Board
the Group’s risk profile, evaluates results and counter-measures

to mitigate or transfer identified potential risks so as to assure
itself and the Board that the process is operating effectively
as planned. A summary of the Company’s risk management
system is appended below.
Risk Management
¾
The Group’s risk management policy consists of a framework
of formal, systematic and comprehensive guidelines and rules
to identify and manage significant risks that might affect the
Group’s achievement of its business objectives.
A Risk Management Framework has been in place to assist the
Board, the Management and staff in identifying, reviewing and
monitoring potential risks. Comprehensive guidelines and rules
are set to identify and manage significant risks that might affect
the Group’s achievement of its business objectives, outputs,
projects or operating processes at the Group.
The Group recognises risk management as a collective
effort beginning with the individual subsidiaries and business
units, followed by the operating segments and ultimately
the Management and the Board, working as a team. A
self-assessment process, conducted regularly by Management,
was introduced to ensure that the Group’s risk management
controls are satisfactory.
The process identifies relevant potential risks across the
Group’s operations with the aim to bring them to within
acceptable cost and tolerance parameters.
Guideline 12.2
Adequacy of Internal Controls
The Board believes that, in the absence of any evidence to the
contrary, the Company’s system of internal controls (including
operational, financial, compliance and risk management system)
are adequate for the Group’s business operations.
Principle 13: Independent Internal Audit Function
Guideline 13.1
Internal Auditors
The AC’s responsibilities over the Group’s internal controls
and risk management are complemented by the work of the
Internal Auditors.
An internal audit function that is independent of the activities
it audits has been established and the Internal Auditors’ (“IA”)
primary line of reporting is to the Chairman of the AC.
Guidelines 13.2 & 13.3
Internal Audit Function
The Company outsourced its internal audit function to
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP which is a corporate member
of the Institute of Internal Auditors Singapore. The IA is guided
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by the PricewaterhouseCoopers Global Internal Audit Services
Methodology which is aligned to the International Standards
for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing (IIA Standards)
issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors.
An annual audit plan which entails the review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s material internal controls has been developed.
The AC is satisfied that the Company’s internal audit function is
adequately resourced to perform the job for the Group.
Guideline 13.4
Adequacy of Internal Audit Function
The AC annually reviews the adequacy of the internal audit
function to ensure that the internal audits are performed
effectively. The AC reviews and approves the annual internal
audit plan to ensure that there is sufficient coverage of the
Group’s activities. It also oversees the implementation of the
internal audit plan and ensures that the Management provides
the necessary co-operation to enable the IA to perform its
function.

IV.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company believes in regular, effective and fair
communication with members of the investment community
and investing public and has adopted a comprehensive policy
to provide clear, timely and fair disclosure of information
about the Company’s business developments and financial
performance.
Principle 14: Regular, Effective And Fair Communication
with Shareholders
Principle 15: Shareholders’ Participation At General
Meetings
Guideline 14.1
Communication with Shareholders
In line with the continuous disclosure obligations under the
Listing Rules of the SGX-ST and the Singapore Companies
Act, Cap. 50, the Board has established a policy to inform
shareholders promptly of all major developments that may have
material impact on the Company.
The Board embraces openness and transparency in the conduct
of the Company’s affairs, whilst safeguarding its commercial
interests. Material information on the Group has been released
to the public through the Company’s announcements via the
SGXNET.
Guideline 14.2
Information to Shareholders
The Company communicates with shareholders and the investing
community through the timely release of announcements to the
SGX-ST via SGXNET. Financial results of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 were released within
one month from the respective periods’ end during the year.
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To further enhance its communication with investors, the
Company has enhanced its website www.spcorp.com.sg where
the public can access information on the Group directly. The
Company’s information can also be accessed through the
website of its holding company, www.tuansing.com.
Guideline 15.1
Shareholders Participation
General meetings have been and are still the principal forum
for dialogue with shareholders. At these meetings, shareholders
were given opportunities to participate through open discussions
and to vote on resolutions tabled.
Guideline 15.2
Proceedings of General Meetings
The Board ensures that separate resolutions are proposed
for approval on each distinct issue at general meetings.
Shareholders can vote either in person or through proxies.
These meetings provide excellent opportunities to build
shareholders’ understanding of the Group’s businesses, and
obtain shareholders’ views on value creation.
Guideline 15.3
Attendees at General Meetings
The Chairmen of the Board and its Committees attend all
general meetings to address issues raised by shareholders.
The External Auditors and the legal advisers are also present
to address any relevant queries from shareholders.
Guideline 15.4
Proxies for Nominee Companies
In 2006, the Company adopted a new set of Articles of
Association which provided therein that no limit shall be
imposed on the number of proxies for nominee companies. This
is to facilitate shareholders holding shares through nominee
companies to attend any general meeting as proxies.
Guideline 15.5
Minutes of General Meetings
The minutes of general meetings, which include substantial
comments or queries from shareholders and responses from
the Board are made available to shareholders upon written
request.

V.

OTHER
CORPORATE
MATTERS

GOVERNANCE

The Company has in place internal codes of conduct and
practices for its Board members and employees on securities
transactions while in possession of price-sensitive information
and their conduct of business activities.
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
– Listing Manual Rule 1207(18)
The Company adopts a policy whereby its Directors and officers
are prohibited from dealing in the securities of the Company

and listed entities within the Group (collectively the “listed
entities”) while in possession of price-sensitive information
as well as during the period commencing one month before
the announcements of the listed entities’ annual and half-year
results, and two weeks before the announcements of the 1st and
3rd quarter financial results till the day of such announcements.
The Company’s Directors and officers are also to refrain
from dealing in the listed entities’ securities for short-term
considerations.

8.

Remuneration Committee
1.

Offer an independent perspective in assisting the Board
to review the remuneration framework for Directors and
senior executives.

2.

Establish appropriate remuneration framework to
motivate and retain Directors and executives, and
ensure that the Company is able to attract appropriate
talent from the market in order to maximise value for
shareholders.

3.

Develop remuneration policy for Executive Directors
and senior executives, structuring it to link rewards to
corporate and individual performance.

4.

Determine the specific remuneration packages for
each Executive Director and any relative of a Director
and/or substantial shareholder who is employed in a
managerial position by the Company.

5.

Review and determine the compensation of senior
executives.

6.

Review the appropriateness and transparency of
remuneration matters disclosed to shareholders.

7.

Have explicit authority to investigate any matter within
its terms of reference including seeking expert advice
within and/or outside the Company.

CODE OF CONDUCT & PRACTICES
The Group recognises the importance of integrity,
professionalism on the conduct of its business activities.
Employees are expected to embrace, practise and adopt these
values while performing their duties and always to act in the
best interest of the Group and avoid situations that may create
conflicts of interest.
Appendix – Key Terms of Reference
Nominating Committee
1.

Develop and maintain a formal and transparent process
for the appointment of new Directors to the Board.
Nominate new Director after evaluating the capabilities
of the candidate and how this candidate will fit in the
overall competency matrix of the Board.

2.

Review and approve the appointment of personnel
who is not a member of the Board as director of the
Company’s subsidiaries.

3.

4.

Determine a suitable size of the Board which
facilitates effective decision-making, after taking into
consideration the scope and nature of the operations
of the Company.
Review the
experiences
competently
of the Board

Directors’ mix of skills, qualities and
that the Board requires to function
and efficiently. Assess the effectiveness
as a whole.

5.

Responsible for the re-nomination of a Director retiring
by rotation for re-election, after having regard to the
Director’s contribution and performance and how this
Director will fit in the overall competency matrix of the
Board.

6.

Determine annually if a Director is independent.

7.

Ensure that the Company has a succession plan
for Executive Directors and key officers, including
appointing, training and mentoring senior
management.

Have explicit authority to investigate any matter within
its terms of reference; full access to and co-operation
by Management; full discretion to invite any Director or
executive officer to attend its meeting; and reasonable
resources to enable it to discharge its functions
properly.

Audit Committee
1.

Assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities for the
Company’s financial reporting, management of financial
and control risks and monitoring of the internal control
systems. Review the financial reporting process, the
system of internal control and management of financial
risks, the audit process, and the Company’s process
for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations
and its own code of business conduct.

2.

Ensure that arrangements are in place for the
independent investigation of possible improprieties in
matters of financial reporting or other matters raised
by staff of the Company and that appropriate follow up
action has been taken.
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3.

4.

5.

28

Review the External Auditors’ proposed audit scope
and approach and ensure no unjustified restrictions or
limitations have been placed on the scope. Review the
nature and extent of non-audit services provided by
the External Auditors. Approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the External Auditors. Monitor
and assess the independence of the External Auditors
and their performance. Ensure significant findings and
recommendations made by the External Auditors are
received and discussed on a timely basis. Ensure that
Management responds to recommendations made by
the External Auditors.
Review the activities and organisational structure of
the internal audit function and ensure no unjustified
restrictions or limitations is made. Review the internal
audit program with regard to the complementary roles
of the internal and external audit functions. Ensure
significant findings and recommendations made by
the Internal Auditors are received and discussed on
a timely basis. Ensure that Management responds to
recommendations made by the Internal Auditors.
Satisfy that adequate counter measures are in place
to identify and mitigate any material business risks
associated with the Company. Review the adequacy
of the Company’s internal financial control, operational
and compliance controls, and risk management policies
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and systems established by the Management. Ensure
that a review of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal controls is conducted at least annually.
6.

Evaluate how Management is reviewing the principal
business risks and assess the appropriateness of the
mechanisms in place to identify, prevent and minimise
these business risks. Ensure an appropriate system
is established to identify and report areas of potential
business risk promptly in order for remedial actions to
be taken. Assess at least annually the effectiveness of
the control and risk management systems. Recommend
to the Board its findings and proposed course of
actions to be taken by Management to ensure controls
are put in place to address these risks. Management is
responsible for the actions to be taken.

7.

Review the relevance and consistency of the accounting
standards used by the Company and the Group,
significant financial reporting issues and judgments so
as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of
the Company and any formal announcements relating
to the Company’s financial performance.

8.

Review and recommend for Board approval Interested
Person Transactions, as specified under Chapter 9 of
the Listing Manual and/or the procedures set out in
general mandate approved by the shareholders.

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
The Directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2010.
1

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

Peter Sung
Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu) (Appointed on 1 August 2010)
Cheng Hong Kok
Chong Chou Yuen
Liem Chin Chiang
William Liem
Tan Lye Huat
Wong Ann Chai

Pursuant to Article 99(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association, the following Directors shall retire at the
Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:
Mr Liem Chin Chiang
Mr Wong Ann Chai
Mr Peter Sung shall retire pursuant to Section 153 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50. A resolution will be
proposed at the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting for his re-appointment under Section 153(6) of
the said Act to hold office until the next annual general meeting of the Company.
Pursuant to Article 100 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu) who was
appointed during the year shall retire at the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
2

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION
OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement
whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.

3

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The Directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital
and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings
kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:
Direct Interest
As at
As at
1 January 31 December
2010
2010

Deemed Interest
As at
As at
1 January 31 December
2010
2010

Related Corporation
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
Ordinary Shares
Mr Liem Chin Chiang

10,000

10,000

–

–

There was no change in the above-mentioned Director’s interests between the end of the financial year and 21
January 2011.
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4

DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS
Since the beginning of the financial year, no Director has received or has become entitled to receive a benefit
which is required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act (other than as disclosed
in the consolidated financial statements), by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation
with the Director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial
interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the financial statements and that certain
Directors have received remuneration from related corporations in their capacities as directors and/or executives
of those related corporations.

5

6

SHARE OPTIONS
(a)

Options to take up unissued shares
During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the
Group were granted.

(b)

Options exercised
During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by
virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

(c)

Unissued shares under option
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the
Group under options.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee consists of four non-executive directors, three of whom are independent directors. At the
date of this report, the members of the Audit Committee are:
Mr
Mr
Mr
Mr

Cheng Hong Kok (Chairman)
Chong Chou Yuen
Tan Lye Huat
Wong Ann Chai

The Audit Committee performed the functions specified in Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act and
the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance.
The Audit Committee met five times during the year and has reviewed the following, where relevant, with the
executive directors and external and internal auditors of the Company:
(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)
(e)
(f)

the audit plans and results of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the Group’s systems of
internal accounting controls;
the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement
of changes in equity of the Company before their submission to the Directors of the Company and external
auditors’ report on those financial statements;
the announcements on the results and financial position of the Company and the Group;
the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s external auditors; and
the re-appointment of the external auditors of the Group.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the
resources required for it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director and
executive officer to attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit
Committee.
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The Audit Committee has recommended to the Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-appointment
as external auditors of the Group at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.
7

AUDITORS
The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Peter Sung
Chairman

Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)
Chief Executive Officer

1 March 2011
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STATEMENT OF
DIRECTORS
In the opinion of the Directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position
and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 34 to 75 are drawn up so as to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2010, and of the results, changes in
equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended; and at the
date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Peter Sung
Chairman

Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu)
Chief Executive Officer

1 March 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SP CORPORATION LIMITED

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SP Corporation Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(the Group) which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2010,
and the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash
flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 34 to 75.
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to
maintain accountability of assets.
AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement
of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company
as at 31 December 2010 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the
Company for the year ended on that date.
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the
Act.

Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
Loi Chee Keong
Partner
Appointed on 11 April 2008
1 March 2011
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STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2010

Group
Note

Company

2010

2009

2010

2009

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment

5

1,544

1,224

92

114

Investments in subsidiaries

6

–

–

13,367

13,015

Other investments

7

–

–

–

–

1,544

1,224

13,459

13,129

8

2,421

4,244

–

–

Trade, other receivables and refundable deposits

9

56,575

33,974

15,412

8,570

Cash and bank balances

12

15,824

16,982

2,416

6,871

Total current assets

74,820

55,200

17,828

15,441

Total assets

76,364

56,424

31,287

28,570

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
58,366

58,366

58,366

58,366

Translation reserve

Share capital

14

(1,145)

(575)

–

–

Accumulated losses

(19,394)

(22,772)

(28,698)

(31,903)

37,827

35,019

29,668

26,463

–

54

–

–

37,827

35,073

29,668

26,463

187

111

16

–

187

111

16

–

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax

17

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings

15

2,771

2,175

–

–

Trade and other payables

18

34,807

18,556

1,591

2,081

772

509

12

26

Total current liabilities

38,350

21,240

1,603

2,107

Total equity and liabilities

76,364

56,424

31,287

28,570

Income tax payable

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2010

Group
Note

2010

2009

$’000

$’000

170,674

106,334

Cost of sales

(161,568)

(96,404)

Gross profit

9,106

9,930

436

765

Distribution costs

(2,334)

(2,560)

Administrative expenses

(3,281)

(2,949)

Revenue

Other operating income

19

20

Other operating expenses

21

(586)

(2,952)

Finance income

22

470

83

Finance costs

23

(46)

(28)

3,765

2,289

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

24

(387)

(114)

Profit for the year

25

3,378

2,175

Owners of the Company

3,378

2,179

Non-controlling interests

–

(4)

3,378

2,175

Profit attributable to:

Earnings per share (cent)
Basic

26

0.96

0.62

Diluted

26

0.96

0.62

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2010

Group
2010

2009

$’000

$’000

3,378

2,175

(570)

(337)

2,808

1,838

Owners of the Company

2,808

1,843

Non-controlling interests

–

(5)

2,808

1,838

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Total comprehensive income attributable to:

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2010

Equity
Attributable
to Owners

Non-

Share

Translation

Accumulated

of the

controlling

Total

Capital

Reserve

Losses

Company

Interests

Equity

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

58,366

(575)

(22,772)

35,019

54

35,073

–

(570)

3,378

2,808

–

2,808

–

–

–

–

(54)

(54)

Balance at 31 December 2010

58,366

(1,145)

(19,394)

37,827

–

37,827

Balance at 1 January 2009

58,366

(239)

(24,951)

33,176

360

33,536

for the financial year

–

(336)

2,179

1,843

(5)

1,838

Liquidation of subsidiaries

–

–

–

–

(127)

(127)

–

–

–

–

(174)

(174)

58,366

(575)

(22,772)

35,019

54

35,073

58,366

–

(31,903)

26,463

–

26,463

–

–

3,205

3,205

–

3,205

Balance at 31 December 2010

58,366

–

(28,698)

29,668

–

29,668

Balance at 1 January 2009

58,366

–

(41,645)

16,721

–

16,721

–

–

9,742

9,742

–

9,742

58,366

–

(31,903)

26,463

–

26,463

Group
Balance at 1 January 2010
Total comprehensive income
for the financial year
Acquisition of additional
interest in subsidiary

Total comprehensive income

Dividend paid to non-controlling
shareholders
Balance at 31 December 2009

Company
Balance at 1 January 2010
Total comprehensive income
for the financial year

Total comprehensive income
for the financial year
Balance at 31 December 2009

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2010

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

3,765

2,289

507
(13)
–
(19)
(296)
–
350
46
(470)

519
(186)
27
–
2,670
42
86
28
(83)

3,870

5,392

1,473
(22,514)
(1,500)
16,271

1,468
(7,685)
(416)
4,547

(2,400)

3,306

(46)
24
566

(25)
83
(793)

(1,856)

2,571

Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment
Payments for acquisition of plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of other investments

124
(937)
19

193
(275)
–

Net cash used in investing activities

(794)

(82)

(2)
17,357
(16,759)
(54)
–

(41)
9,763
(7,590)
–
(174)

542

1,958

(550)

(347)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(2,658)
14,154

4,100
10,054

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 12)

11,496

14,154

Cash Flows (Used In) From Operating Activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment
Loss on write-off of plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of other investment
(Write-back) Allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables, net
Bad debts written off
Allowance for inventory obsolescence, net
Interest expense
Interest income
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Inventories
Trade, other receivables and refundable deposits
Restricted bank balances
Trade and other payables
Cash (used in) from operations
Interest paid
Interest received
Income tax refund (paid), net
Net cash (used in) from operating activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Repayment of finance lease obligations
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Payment for additional interest in subsidiary
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiary
Net cash from financing activities
Foreign currency translation adjustment

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2010
1

GENERAL
The statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of SP Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
(Registration No. 195200115K) and consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2010 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 1 March 2011. The
Company is domiciled and incorporated in Singapore with its registered office at 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02 The Oxley,
Singapore 238697. The Company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The financial
statements are expressed in Singapore dollars which is also the functional currency of the Company.
The immediate and ultimate holding company is Tuan Sing Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Singapore
and listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. Related companies in these financial statements
refer to members of the ultimate holding company’s group of companies.
The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of significant
subsidiaries are set out in Note 31 to the financial statements.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a)

Basis of Accounting
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except as
disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

(b)

Adoption of New and Revised Standards
In the current financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of
FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2010. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the
Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for
the current or prior years.

(c)

New FRS and INT FRS yet to be adopted
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments
to FRS that are relevant to the Group and the Company were issued but not effective:
•

Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards (issued in October 2010)

•

FRS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosure

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised
standards.
The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS in
future periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company
in the period of initial adoption except for the following:
FRS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures
FRS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2011. The revised Standard clarifies the definition of a related party and consequently additional parties
may be identified as related to the reporting entity. The Group is currently determining the impact of the
changes to the definition of a related party have on the disclosure of related party transaction. As this is a
disclosure standard, it will have no impact on the financial position or financial performance of the Group
when implemented in 2011.
(d)

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(d)

Basis of Consolidation (cont’d)
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
the accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The
interest of non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Subsequent to acquisition, the
carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the
non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed
to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained
earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or jointly controlled entity.
In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment
in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.

(e)

Business Combination
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of assets
given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity instruments issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.
Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes
in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period
adjustments (see below). The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, or FRS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(e)

Business Combination (cont’d)
Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the acquired
entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains control) and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree
prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:
•

deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

•

liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based
payment awards are measured in accordance with FRS 102 Share-based Payment; and

•

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised as of that date.
The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is subject to a
maximum of one year from acquisition date.
The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above.
(f)

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write-off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using a
straight-line method, on the following bases:
Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles

Number of years
1 to 15
5

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as
owned assets or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term,
the asset shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

SP Corporation Limited • Annual Report 2010

41

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2010
2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(g)

Impairment of Tangible Assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

(h)

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all costs in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
Raw materials and finished goods are accounted for on a weighted average basis. The costs of finished
goods include costs of raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads based on
normal operating capacity.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs
to completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Allowance is made where necessary
for obsolete, slow-moving items and defective inventories.

(i)

Construction Contracts
Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, as
measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated
total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in
contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be measured
reliably and its receipt is considered probable.
Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised
as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(j)

Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits
and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits which are held
to maturity are carried at cost.
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
unsecured cash on hand and deposits in banks but exclude restricted bank balances.

(k)

Financial Assets
Investments are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial
assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.
Other financial assets are classified into the following specific categories: financial assets “at fair value
through profit or loss” and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose
of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
(i)

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument
and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense are
recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial instruments
“at fair value through profit or loss”.

(ii)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it
is designated as FVTPL.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
•

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

•

it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:
•

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

•

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about
the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(k)

Financial Assets (cont’d)
(ii)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) (cont’d)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in “other operating income” line
in the income statement.

(iii)

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determined payments that are
not quoted in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is
recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of trade and other receivables where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade and other receivable is uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of
the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(v)

44

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateral borrowing for
the proceeds received.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(l)

Financial Liabilities and Interest-bearing Liabilities
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on
an effective yield basis except for short-term payables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
Items classified within trade and other payables are not usually re-measured, as the obligation is usually
known with a high degree of certainty and settlement is of short-term in nature.
Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs [refer to Note 2(w)].
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and, if not designated as at
FVPTL, subsequently at the higher of the amount of obligation under the contract recognised as a provision
in accordance with FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and the amount initially
recognised less cumulative amortisation in accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

(m)

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.

(n)

Share Capital and Dividends
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Dividends are deducted from shareholders’ equity or recorded as a liability when declared payable. Proposed
dividends which are subject to shareholders’ approval are not deducted from shareholders’ equity and are
not recorded as liabilities.

(o)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(p)

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss,
unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(q)

Income Tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or
tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the
end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset realised based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(q)

Income Tax (cont’d)
Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to
items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in
which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the
case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining
the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over cost.

(r)

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and
interest rates.
The Group uses derivative financial instruments (primarily foreign currency forward contracts) to hedge its
risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations relating to certain firm commitments and forecasted
transactions.
The significant interest rate risk arises from short-term borrowings such as bills payable. The Group’s policy
is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt.
The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors,
which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives consistent with the Group’s risk
management strategy. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as
a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature
of the hedge relationship.

(s)

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be reliably measured.
Revenue from sale of products comprises revenue earned from the sale of the products net of returns, trade
allowances and duties and taxes paid. Revenue from sale of products is recognised when significant risks
and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer and the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold.
Revenue from construction contracts is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on
construction contracts [Note 2(i)].
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable.
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have
been established.

(t)

Retirement Benefit Costs
Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are charged as an expense when employees have
rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined
contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined
contribution retirement benefit plan.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(u)

Employee Leave Entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

(v)

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation
The individual financial statements of each Group entity are presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial
statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the
Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the
presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary
items are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations (including comparatives) are translated to Singapore dollars using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity under the header of foreign currency translation reserve.
On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint
control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange differences in respect of
that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange differences that
have previously been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassified
to profit or loss.
In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or jointly controlled
entities not involving a change of accounting basis), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities
(including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of
foreign currency translation reserve.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
(w)

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
All other borrowing costs are recognised as in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

3

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management is of the opinion that there are no critical
judgements involved that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
Allowance for inventories
In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, an estimation of the recoverable amount of
inventories on hand is performed based on the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are made.
This represents the value of the inventories which are expected to realise as estimated by management. These
estimates take into consideration the fluctuations of price or cost, or any inventories on hand that may not be
realised, directly or indirectly relating to events occurring after the end of the year to the extent that such events
confirm conditions existing at the end of the year. Details of the allowance for inventories are disclosed in Note 8
to the financial statements.
Allowance for impairment loss on receivables
Management assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that receivables
are impaired. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on receivables has been incurred, the amount
of loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows. The amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where the loss subsequently reverses, the
reversal is recognised in profit or loss. Details of the allowance for impairment loss on receivables are disclosed in
Notes 10 and 11 to the financial statements.
Contract work-in-progress
The Group recognises contract revenue and contract costs using the percentage of completion method. The stage
of completion is measured by reference to certification of value of work performed to date.
Significant judgement is required in estimating the total contract cost which affect contract cost recognised to-date
based on the percentage of completion. Total contract revenue also includes estimations for the variation works
that are recoverable from customers. In making judgements, the Group evaluates by relying on past experience
and the work of specialists.
In addressing uncertainties relating to the valuation of construction contracts and the making of contract cost
estimates, the Group adopts a conservative approach. Details of the contracts work-in-progress are disclosed in
Note 13 to the financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONT’D)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)
Recoverability of refundable deposits
Management assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any evidence that the refundable
deposits are impaired. A considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
deposits, including current credit worthiness, past collection history and ongoing dealings with them. If the financial
conditions of the coal mines were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, an
allowance may be required. The carrying amounts and details of the refundable deposits are disclosed in Note 9
to the financial statements.

4

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenue
For the purpose of the resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the Group’s chief operating
decision maker has focused on the business operating units which in turn, are segregated based on their products
and services. This forms the basis of identifying the operating segments of the Group under FRS 108.
Operating segments are aggregated into a single reportable operating segment if they have similar economic
characteristics, such as long-term average gross margins, and are similar in respect of nature of products and
services, and/or their reported revenue, absolute amount of profit or loss and assets are not material to the
combined totals of all operating segments.
The Group’s reportable operating segments under FRS 108 are as follows:
Segment

Principal activities

Commodities Trading

Trades and markets a broad range of products including coal, rubber,
chemicals, oil and metals used by manufacturers in the energy, rubber,
automotive and petrochemical industries. It also distributes consumer
products.

Geotechnical and Soil Investigation

Provides geotechnical instrumentation and investigation and
environmental services.

Tyre and Auto Products

Markets and distributes tyres and auto-products and retreading of
tyres.

Corporate and Others

General corporate activities.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in Note 2. Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external and internal customers. Segment profit
represents the profit earned by each segment after allocating central administrative costs and finance costs. This is
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance.
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources, the chief operating decision maker
monitors the financial assets attributable to each segment. All assets are allocated to operating segments. Assets,
if any, used jointly by reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the revenue earned by individual operating
segments.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)
Segment revenue and results
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented in the tables below.
Geotechnical

Tyre and

Corporate

Inter-

Commodities

and Soil

Auto

and

segment

Trading

Investigation

Products

others

Eliminations

Consolidated

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

110,615

16,240

43,819

–

–

170,674

–

–

20

5,765

(5,785)

–

110,615

16,240

43,839

5,765

(5,785)

170,674

3,285

(316)

735

2,902

(3,265)

3,341

Year ended 31 December 2010
Revenue
– External customers
– Inter-segment
Total segment revenue

Result
Segment result
Finance income

470

Finance costs

(46)

Profit before tax

3,765

Income tax expense

(387)

Profit after tax

3,378

Assets
Segment assets

49,257

11,738

12,274

2,565

–

Unallocated assets

75,834
530

Total assets

76,364

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

21,016

3,390

9,091

1,310

–

Unallocated liabilities

34,807
3,730

Total liabilities

38,537

Other information
Capital expenditure

8

728

101

100

–

937

Depreciation

8

405

76

18

–

507

–

(8)

(2)

(3)

–

(13)

–

(19)

–

–

–

(19)

–

(199)

(97)

–

–

(296)

–

–

350

–

–

350

Gain on disposal of plant and
equipment
Gain on disposal of
other investment
Write-back for doubtful trade and
other receivables and
bad debts written off
Allowance for inventory
obsolescence, net
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)
Segment revenue and results (cont’d)
Geotechnical

Tyre and

Corporate

Inter-

Commodities

and Soil

Auto

and

segment

Trading

Investigation

Products

others

Eliminations

Consolidated

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

53,222

13,805

39,275

32

–

106,334

17

–

37

9,941

(9,995)

–

53,239

13,805

39,312

9,973

(9,995)

106,334

1,191

1,540

(853)

9,466

(9,110)

2,234

Year ended 31 December 2009
Revenue
– External customers
– Inter-segment
Total segment revenue

Result
Segment result
Finance income

83

Finance costs

(28)

Profit before tax

2,289

Income tax expense

(114)

Profit after tax

2,175

Assets
Segment assets

25,539

9,270

13,454

6,994

–

Unallocated assets

55,257
1,167

Total assets

56,424

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

6,354

3,143

8,137

922

–

Unallocated liabilities

18,556
2,795

Total liabilities

21,351

Other information
Capital expenditure

9

245

21

–

–

275

Depreciation

6

389

87

37

–

519

Write-off of plant and equipment

–

27

–

–

–

27

–

(178)

(8)

–

–

(186)

(24)

(15)

2,751

–

–

2,712

–

–

86

–

–

86

Gain on disposal of plant and
equipment
Allowance (write-back) for
doubtful trade and
other receivables and
bad debts written off
Allowance for inventory
obsolescence, net
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)
Geographical Information
The Group’s businesses are mainly in Singapore, Indonesia and Malaysia. Revenue is based on the country in
which the customer is located. Assets and capital expenditure are shown by the geographical areas in which these
assets are located. The Group’s revenue and information about its non-current assets and capital expenditure by
geographical location are detailed below:
External revenue
Based on location of
customer

Non-current assets

Capital expenditure

2010

2009

2010

2009

2010

2009

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Singapore

95,764

64,774

1,329

1,214

681

275

Indonesia

25,802

19,458

214

9

254

–

Malaysia

9,112

5,302

1

1

2

–

20,272

10,563

–

–

–

–

3,073

4,604

–

–

–

–

Europe

13,021

–

–

–

–

–

Others

3,630

1,633

–

–

–

–

170,674

106,334

1,544

1,224

937

275

Other ASEAN countries
China including Hong Kong

Information about major customers
Included in the Commodities Trading revenue of $110.6 million (2009: $53.2 million) were sales of approximately
$56.9 million (2009: $41.3 million) to the Group’s two largest customers.
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and
equipment
$’000

Motor
vehicles
$’000

Total
$’000

Cost:
At 1 January 2010
Translation differences
Additions
Disposals
Write-offs

6,399
2
705
(8)
(56)

1,086
–
232
(290)
–

7,485
2
937
(298)
(56)

At 31 December 2010

7,042

1,028

8,070

At 1 January 2009
Translation differences
Additions
Disposals
Write-offs

7,855
(2)
275
(126)
(1,603)

1,125
–
–
(28)
(11)

8,980
(2)
275
(154)
(1,614)

At 31 December 2009

6,399

1,086

7,485

5,425
1
423
(7)
(56)

836
–
84
(180)
–

6,261
1
507
(187)
(56)

At 31 December 2010

5,786

740

6,526

At 1 January 2009
Translation differences
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Write-offs

6,752
(2)
373
(122)
(1,576)

726
–
146
(25)
(11)

7,478
(2)
519
(147)
(1,587)

At 31 December 2009

5,425

836

6,261

Carrying amounts:
At 31 December 2010

1,256

288

1,544

At 31 December 2009

974

250

1,224

Group

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2010
Translation differences
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Write-offs
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)
Plant and
equipment
$’000

Motor
vehicles
$’000

Total
$’000

11
100
–
(5)

174
–
(174)
–

185
100
(174)
(5)

106

–

106

11

174

185

7
12
–
(5)

64
6
(70)
–

71
18
(70)
(5)

14

–

14

At 1 January 2009
Depreciation for the year

5
2

29
35

34
37

At 31 December 2009

7

64

71

Carrying amounts:
At 31 December 2010

92

–

92

At 31 December 2009

4

110

114

Company
Cost:
At 1 January 2010
Additions
Disposals
Write-offs
At 31 December 2010
At 1 January and 31 December 2009
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2010
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Write-offs
At 31 December 2010

In 2009, carrying amount of motor vehicles of $41,000 of the Group was under finance lease agreement (Note 16).
In the current year, such leases have been fully repaid.
6

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2010
$’000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Recognition of financial guarantee provided to subsidiaries
Less: Impairment loss

2009
$’000

14,443
1,465
(2,541)

14,443
1,113
(2,541)

13,367

13,015

Further details regarding the significant subsidiaries are set out in Note 31.
The Company issued financial guarantees to banks for credit facilities of its subsidiaries and recorded a deemed
financial guarantee fee income in accordance with the provisions of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement. The deemed income was amortised over the period of the guarantee. The guarantee fee was
not charged by the Company to the subsidiaries. The full amount of the guarantee fee is deemed to be additional
investment in the subsidiaries.
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
The following schedule shows the effects of changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that did not
result in change of control, on the equity attributable to owners of the parent:
Group
2010
$’000
Amounts paid on changes in ownership interest in subsidiary
Non-controlling interest acquired
Difference recognised in equity reserves

7

2009
$’000

(54)
54

–
–

–

–

OTHER INVESTMENTS
Group
2010
$’000
Quoted equity shares, at cost
Less: Impairment loss

Market value

2009
$’000

Company
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

–
–

273
(273)

–
–

–
–

–

–

–

–

–

14

–

–

During the year, the quoted equity shares was sold at a gain of $19,000 and this gain has been recorded as Other
Operating Income (Note 20).
In 2009, the fair value of these shares was based on the quoted closing market price on the last market day of
the financial year.
8

INVENTORIES

Group
2010
Raw materials
Finished goods

2009
Raw materials
Finished goods

At cost
$’000

At net
realisable
value
$’000

Total
$’000

246
1,526

–
649

246
2,175

1,772

649

2,421

417
3,734

–
93

417
3,827

4,151

93

4,244

The net realisable value of the above inventories is stated net of allowance of $385,000 (2009: $412,000). During
the year, $350,000 (2009: $90,000) was recognised as an expense in respect of write-downs of inventories to net
realisable value. At the same time, $Nil (2009: $4,000) of reversal of allowance of inventories was made when the
related inventories were sold above their carrying amounts.
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TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND REFUNDABLE DEPOSITS
Group
2010
$’000
Trade receivables (Note 10)
Other receivables (Note 11)
Refundable deposits with related parties*

10

Company
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

2009
$’000

44,022
2,053
10,500

31,592
2,382
–

–
15,412
–

–
8,570
–

56,575

33,974

15,412

8,570

*

Refundable deposits relate to monies placed by the Group with 2 coal mines which are related parties of US$2,000,000 and
US$6,000,000 respectively to secure coal allocations.

(a)

The US$2,000,000 (equivalent to $2,625,000) deposit placed is unsecured and repayable within 1 year. It
bears an effective interest of 4.98% per annum.

(b)

The US$6,000,000 (equivalent to $7,875,000) deposit placed is repayable within 1 year subject to yearly
renewal by mutual agreement between the 2 parties. It bears an effective interest of 5.06% per annum.
The deposits are secured by a corporate guarantee issued by the holding company of the related party.

TRADE RECEIVABLES
Group
2010
$’000
Trade receivables
Amounts due from a related party – trade
(Note 27)
Retention monies receivable
Less: Allowance for doubtful trade receivables

2009
$’000

Company
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

42,903

33,615

–

–

3,176
673

–
1,521

–

–

46,752
(2,730)

35,136
(3,544)

–
–

–
–

44,022

31,592

–

–

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 120 days (2009: 30 to 120 days) credit
terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customers.
Late penalty interest is charged for amount owing from a related party which are past due.
At 31 December 2010, amounts of $18,000 (2009: $438,000) included in retention monies receivable are due
for settlement after more than 12 months, but have been classified as current because they are expected to be
realised in the normal operating cycle.
Allowances for doubtful debts are recognised against trade receivables for the estimated irrecoverable amounts
from the sale of goods and services rendered to third parties. These allowances had been determined by assessing
the profile of debtors and after considering recovery prospects.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful trade receivables
Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Balance at beginning of year
Amounts written off during the year
Receivables recovered during the year
Allowance made during the year
Effects of exchange rate changes on the allowance for
doubtful debts denominated in foreign currencies

3,544
(361)
(296)
–

1,287
(497)
(39)
2,793

(157)

–

Balance at end of year

2,730

3,544

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $4,184,000 (2009:
$2,752,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not recognised an allowance for
doubtful receivables as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered
recoverable. In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit
quality of the trade receivables from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.
The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at 31 December:
Group
2010
$’000
Not past due and not impaired
Past due but not impaired (a)
Impaired receivables – collectively assessed (b)
Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables
Impaired receivables – individually assessed (b), (c)
– No response to repayment demands
Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables
Total trade receivables, net
a.

Company
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

39,838
4,184

28,840
2,752

–
–

–
–

44,022

31,592

–

–

279
(279)

930
(930)

–
–

–
–

–

–

–

–

2,451
(2,451)

2,614
(2,614)

–
–

–
–

–

–

–

–

44,022

31,592

–

–

2,708
1,093
–
383

2,375
115
89
173

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

4,184

2,752

–

–

Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired
<
3
6
>

58

2009
$’000

3 months
months to 6 months
months to 12 months
12 months

b.

These amounts are stated before any deduction for allowance for doubtful receivables.

c.

These receivables are not secured by any collateral or covered by credit enhancements.
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OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group
2010
$’000
Sundry debtors
Prepayments
Deposits
Tax recoverable
Forward foreign exchange contracts
Interest receivable from related parties (Note 27)
Amount receivable from related parties (non-trade)
Amount receivable from subsidiaries (Notes 6 and 31)

2009
$’000

Company
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

38
173
742
530
180
326
64
–

198
376
641
1,167
–
–
–
–

–
11
46
–
–
–
–
15,355

3
3
1
–
–
–
–
8,563

2,053

2,382

15,412

8,570

The amounts receivable from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand except for an
amount of $13,063,000 (2009: $5,800,000) which bears effective interest rate of 4.0% (2009: 3.2%) per annum.
In 2009, the Group has written back the allowance of $84,000 for impairment of sundry debtors as it was no
longer required.
Tax recoverable of $530,000 (2009: $1,167,000) arose mainly from the prepayment of income tax by an overseas
subsidiary. The tax recoverable as at 31 December 2009 of $1,122,000 has been recovered in 2010.

12

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Company
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

8,615
7,209

9,222
7,760

1,925
491

4,000
2,871

Cash and bank balances

15,824

16,982

2,416

6,871

Less: Restricted bank balances
(pledged fixed deposits and cash)

(4,328)

(2,828)

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
cash flows

11,496

14,154

Fixed deposits
Cash at bank and on hand

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits. The carrying amounts
of these assets approximate their fair values.
Fixed deposits and cash of the Group amounting to $4,328,000 (2009: $2,429,000) and $Nil (2009: $399,000)
are held by banks as security for facilities granted to certain subsidiaries. Fixed deposits bear interest ranging
from 0.07% to 0.70% (2009: 0.08% to 0.87%) per annum and for tenors ranging from 12 to 365 days (2009: 4
to 365 days).
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CONTRACT WORK-IN-PROGRESS
Group

Cost incurred and attributable profits recognised
Progress billings received and receivable

2010

2009

$’000

$’000

16,933

6,550

(16,955)

(6,768)

(22)

(218)

(22)

(218)

Amounts due to customers for contract work-in-progress (Note 18)

14

SHARE CAPITAL
Group and Company
2010

2009

2010

2009

Shares

Shares

$’000

$’000

350,991,516

350,991,516

58,366

58,366

Issued and paid up:
At beginning and end of the year

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a fixed right to dividends
as and when declared by the Company.

15

BORROWINGS
Group
2010

2009

$’000

$’000

2,771

2,173

–

2

2,771

2,175

Current
Bills payable
Finance lease liabilities (Note 16)

The Group’s bills payable are secured by deposits placed and cash with banks of $4,175,000 (2009:
$2,665,000).
In 2009, finance leases were secured by motor vehicles of the Group with carrying amount of $41,000.
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FINANCE LEASES
Group
Minimum lease
payments
2010
2009
$’000
$’000
Within one year
After one year but not more than
five years

–

Present value of
minimum lease
payments
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

2

–

2

–

–

–

–

Less: Future finance charges

–
–

2
–

–
–

2
–

Present value of lease obligations

–

2

–

2

Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months
(shown under current liabilities)

–

(2)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months

–

–

The Group’s obligation under finance leases were secured by the lessors’ title to leased assets.
In 2009, the Group has leased certain of its motor vehicle under finance lease and the effective interest rate was
7.0% per annum. The lease has been fully repaid during the year.

17

DEFERRED TAX
Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Company
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

At beginning of year
Charged/(write-back) during the year

111
76

134
(23)

–
16

–
–

At end of year

187

111

16

–

Deferred tax at 31 December related to the following:
Deferred tax liabilities
– Differences in accounting and tax depreciation

187

111

16

–
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group
2010
$’000
Trade creditors
Financial guarantee contracts
Forward foreign exchange contract
Accrued expenses
Sundry creditors
Amounts due to customers for contract work-in-progress
(Note 13)
Amounts due to related parties – trade (Note 27)
Amounts due to related companies – non-trade (Note 27)
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Notes 6 and 31)
Amount due to holding company (Notes 1 and 27)

2009
$’000

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

17,681
–
12
3,474
553

13,304
–
–
2,332
350

–
127
12
891
409

–
98
–
549
350

22
13,065
–
–
–

218
2,032
297
–
23

–
–
–
152
–

–
–
–
1,061
23

34,807

18,556

1,591

2,081

Trade creditors principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. Trade payables
are generally on 14 to 90 days (2009: 14 to 90 days) credit terms.
19

REVENUE
Group
2010
$’000
Sale of products
Construction revenue
Others

20

154,433

92,497

16,240

13,805

1

32

170,674

106,334

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Construction equipment hiring income

61

213

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment

13

186

Gain on disposal of other investment

19

–

–

2

296

123

Bad debts recovered for trade receivables
Reversal of allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables
Reversal of allowance for inventories

–

4

Foreign exchange gain, net

–

92

47

145

436

765

Sundry income

62

2009
$’000
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Group
2010
$’000

22

Plant and equipment written off

–

27

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables

–

2,793

Bad debts written off

–

42

Allowance for inventories

350

90

Foreign currency exchange loss, net

236

–

586

2,952

FINANCE INCOME

Interest income:
Bank deposits
Third parties
Related parties

23

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

23

34

1

49

446

–

470

83

FINANCE COSTS

Interest expense:
Bills payable
Finance leases

24

2009
$’000

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

46

26

–

2

46

28

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax:
Current year
Withholding tax paid
Overprovision in prior years
Provision (write-back) of deferred tax

Group
2010
$’000
514

2009
$’000
182

14

12

(217)

(57)

311

137

76

(23)

387

114
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)
Reconciliations of the statutory income tax rate to the effective tax rates applicable to profit before tax are as
follows:
Group
2010

2009

$’000

$’000

17.0%

17.0%

0.1%

–

Overprovision in prior years

(5.8%)

(2.5%)

Exempt income

(2.0%)

(4.5%)

Withholding tax paid

0.4%

0.5%

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

2.9%

2.1%

Income capital in nature

(0.3%)

(1.3%)

Utilisation of losses and capital allowances previously not recognised

(3.9%)

(5.0%)

2.0%

(1.4%)

Others

(0.1%)

0.1%

Effective tax rate

10.3%

5.0%

Domestic statutory tax rate
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdictions

Deferred tax benefits not recognised (write-back of deferred tax)

Domestic income tax is calculated at 17% (2009: 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation
for other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdiction.
At 31 December 2010, the Group had unutilised tax losses and capital allowances of approximately $10,781,000
(2009: $11,264,000) and $4,600,000 (2009: $5,000,000) respectively available for offset against future taxable
income, subject to the conditions imposed by law in the countries of incorporation where the companies in the
Group operate.
Future tax benefits of $2,615,000 (2009: $2,765,000) arising from such unutilised tax losses and capital allowances
have not been recognised as there is no reasonable certainty of their recovery in future periods.
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
The profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Remuneration paid or payable to:
Directors of the Company

442

Other Directors of subsidiaries

799

636

9,371

8,989

434

493

142,986

82,098

Wages and salaries (including directors’ remuneration)
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans including
Central Provident Fund
Cost of inventories included in cost of sales
Recovery of legal costs for litigation case
(included in administrative expenses)
(Writeback) allowance for doubtful trade and other receivables
Foreign currency exchange loss (gain), net

781

–

(253)

(296)

2,793

236

(92)

Fees for non-audit services to
– Auditors of the Company

97

41

– Other auditors

75

43

The employees of SP Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries that are located in Singapore are members of
a state-managed retirement benefit plan, the Central Provident Board Fund, operated by the Government of
Singapore. The Company and the subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit plan is to make the specified contributions.
The total expense recognised in profit or loss of $434,000 (2009: $493,000) represents contributions payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 31 December 2010, contributions of
$84,000 (2009: $87,000) due in respect of current financial year had not been paid over to the plans. The amounts
were paid over subsequent to the end of reporting period.
26

EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENT)
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year:
Group

Net profit attributable to owners of the Company ($’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (in ’000s)
Basic earnings per share (cent)

2010

2009

3,378

2,179

350,992

350,992

0.96

0.62

The Company has not granted options over shares. There are no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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RELATED PARTY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise
significant influence over the parties in making the financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the
Group and the parties are subject to common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other
entities.
Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the ultimate holding company’s group of
companies (Note 1).
Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis
determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, repayable
on demand and interest-free unless stated otherwise.
(a)

During the year, the following significant transactions with related companies and related parties were
carried out in the normal course of business based on terms agreed between the parties:
Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited and subsidiaries
Rental expense

40

60

292

162

–

(24)

Sales of goods

(6,423)

(4,605)

Purchases of goods

65,492

16,541

(446)

–

Management fee expense
Interest income

Related parties (all of which relate to companies in which the
substantial shareholders of the holding company
have financial interests in)

Interest income

(b)

Compensation of Directors and key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

1,520

1,649

28

53

1,548

1,702

The remuneration of Directors and key management are determined by the Remuneration Committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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COMMITMENTS
(a)

Operating Lease Arrangements
Group
2010
$’000
Rental expense – operating lease in respect of rental
of office premises, warehouse and workshops

2009
$’000

799

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

738

46

8

The commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not recognised as
liabilities are payable as follows:
Group
2010
$’000
Within one year
After one year but not more than five years

2009
$’000

Company
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

839
310

652
77

158
132

–
–

1,149

729

290

–

The Group leases office premises, warehouse and workshops under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The leases have varying terms and renewal rights. They are generally negotiated for an average
term of 2 years and rentals are generally fixed for an average of 2 years.
(b)

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group utilises currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows.
At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding forward foreign exchange
contracts to which the Group is committed are as follows:
Group
2010
$’000
Forward foreign exchange contracts

13,317

2009
$’000
5,800

The change in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivative has been charged to the profit or loss in
2010.
The change in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivative has not been charged to the profit or loss
in 2009 as the amount is insignificant.
29

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Group
2010
$’000
Financial guarantees to banks for
facilities granted to subsidiaries

–

2009
$’000
–

Company
2010
$’000
46,494
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:
Group
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Company
2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Financial Assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

56,402
15,824

33,598
16,982

15,401
2,416

8,567
6,871

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Bills payable
Finance leases

34,807
2,771
–

18,556
2,173
2

1,591
–
–

2,081
–
–

(a)

Financial Risk Management Policies and Objectives
The Group has documented its financial risk management framework. The Group’s risk framework has
formal, systematic and comprehensive guidelines and rules to identify and manage significant risks that
might affect the achievement of its business objectives. The Group’s overall risk management framework
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on financial performance of the Group.
Risk management is carried out by the Company and the respective subsidiaries and business units under
the policies formulated by the Company and approved by the Company’s Board of Directors.
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks – market risk (including currency risk, interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial
performance.
The Group’s financial instruments comprise borrowings in the form of bills payable, some cash and liquid
resources, and various items, such as trade and other receivables, trade and other payables that arise
directly from its operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to maintain adequate finance
for the entity’s operations. The main risks arising from the entity’s financial instruments are currency risk,
interest risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

(b)

Financial Risk Factors
The Group manages its exposure to currency and interest risks using a variety of techniques and instruments.
Natural hedging is preferred by matching assets and liabilities of the same currency. Derivative financial
instruments are only used where it is necessary to reduce exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange.
The Group does not contract for derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. There has been
no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risk during the year. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

(c)

Currency Risk
The Group operates mainly in Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia. Entities in the Group regularly transact in
currencies other than their respective functional currencies (“foreign currencies”) such as the Singapore dollar
(“SGD”), Malaysian Ringgit (“RM”) and United States dollar (“USD”). Currency risk arises when transactions
are denominated in foreign currencies.
The Group’s exposure to currency translation risk on the net assets in foreign operations is limited to the
net asset of these operations. The risk is not hedged as such investments are considered to be long-term
in nature.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
(c)

Currency Risk (cont’d)
The primary purpose of the Group’s currency hedging activities is to protect against the effect of volatility in
foreign currency exchange rates on foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities arising in the normal
course of business. As far as possible, the Group relies on natural hedges of matching foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities of the same currency.
The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency risk and enters into
forward exchange contracts with maturities of less than twelve months. Further details on the forward
exchange contracts can be found in Note 28(b) to the financial statements.
Currency risk exposure
The Group’s currency exposures for amounts not denominated in the respective functional currencies of
the Company and the subsidiaries are as follows:
SGD equivalent

USD
$’000

SGD
$’000

Others
$’000

Total
$’000

Group
At 31 December 2010
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances
Trade and other receivables

5,713
4,099

100
27

7
573

5,820
4,699

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

(8,390)

(12,136)

(115)

(20,641)

Net financial assets (liabilities)

1,422

(12,009)

465

(10,122)

Less: Currency forwards

(1,313)

12,004

–

10,691

109

(5)

465

569

At 31 December 2009
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances
Trade and other receivables

1,676
5,428

13
24

17
1,222

1,706
6,674

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

(7,066)

(5,894)

–

(12,960)

38

(5,857)

1,239

(4,580)

–

5,800

–

5,800

38

(57)

1,239

1,220

Currency exposure

Net financial assets (liabilities)
Less: Currency forwards
Currency exposure

The Company’s functional currency is Singapore dollar. Except for an amount due from (to) subsidiary of
$2,363,000 [2009: ($838,000)] and cash and bank balances of $525,000 (2009: $Nil) which are denominated
in USD and $330,000 (2009: $334,000) due to an external party which is denominated in other currency,
there is no other currency exposure risk. The Company has relied on natural hedges of matching USD
assets and liabilities with entities within the Group and accordingly there was insignificant USD currency
risk exposure as at 31 December 2010.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
(c)

Currency Risk (cont’d)
Currency sensitivity analysis
The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the exchange rate of the
relevant foreign currencies against the functional currency of each group entity. The magnitude represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts the
translated amount at the period end. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to
foreign operations within the Group where they gave rise to an impact on the Group’s profit or loss and/
or equity.
If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity,
profit and loss and other equity will increase (decrease) by:
SGD equivalent

USD impact
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

SGD impact
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Other currency impact
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Group
Profit and loss
Other equity

(11)
966

(4)
748

1
–

6
–

(47)
87

(124)
(75)

Company
Profit and loss

–

84

–

–

33

33

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, profit
and loss and other equity will increase (decrease) by:
SGD equivalent

(d)

USD impact
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

SGD impact
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Other currency impact
2010
2009
$’000
$’000

Group
Profit and loss
Other equity

11
(966)

4
(748)

(1)
–

(6)
–

47
(87)

124
75

Company
Profit and loss

–

(84)

–

–

(33)

(33)

Cash Flow and Fair Value Interest Rate Risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
The Group mainly uses trade financing and finance lease for funding. The Group’s interest management
policy is aimed at optimising net interest cost and reducing volatility in finance cost. A summary of
quantitative data of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments can be found in Note 30(f).
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group does not expect any material effect on the Group’s profit
or loss arising from the effects of reasonably possible changes to interest rates on interest bearing financial
instruments at the end of the reporting period.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
(e)

Credit Risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and
obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
defaults. The Group manages these risks by monitoring credit-worthiness and limiting the aggregate risk
to any individual counterparty. Therefore, the Group does not expect to incur material credit losses on its
financial instruments.
The maximum amount the Company could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee contracts in
Note 29, if the full guaranteed amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee is $46,494,000
(2009: $34,800,000). Based on expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Company considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant concentration of credit risk. The carrying amount
of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any allowances for losses and the
exposure to defaults from financial guarantees above, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.
The other receivable amount in Note 11 is mainly derived from Singapore.
The refundable deposits in Note 9 is mainly derived from Indonesia.
The credit risk for trade receivables by geographical areas is as follows:
Group
2010
$’000
By geographical areas
Singapore
Indonesia
Malaysia
Other ASEAN countries
Europe
Others

(f)

2009
$’000

26,306
10,888
350
577
5,121
780

20,045
10,049
354
386
–
758

44,022

31,592

Liquidity Risk
The Group adopts prudent liquidity risk management by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable
securities.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group aims at maintaining flexibility in funding
by keeping adequate committed credit facilities available.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
(f)

Liquidity Risk (cont’d)
Liquidity and interest risk analyses
Derivative financial instruments
The following table details the liquidity analysis for derivative financial instruments. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted gross inflows and (outflows) on those derivatives that require gross
settlement.
On
demand or
within 1
year
$’000

Within
2 to 5
years
$’000

After 5
years
$’000

Total
$’000

Group
2010
Gross settled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts

168

–

–

168

2009
Gross settled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts

–

–

–

–

Non-derivative financial liabilities
The following tables detail the weighted average effective interest rates and the remaining contractual
maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and Company can be required
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. The adjustment column represents possible
future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in
the carrying amount of the financial liability on the statement of financial position.
Weighted
average
On
effective demand or
interest
within 1
rate
year
%
$’000
Group
2010
Non-interest bearing
Bills payable (fixed rate)
2009
Non-interest bearing
Bills payable (fixed rate)
Finance lease liability
(fixed rate)

72

–
2.54

–
1.84
7.00

Within
2 to 5
years
$’000

After 5
years Adjustment
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

34,807
2,779

–
–

–
–

–
(8)

34,807
2,771

37,586

–

–

(8)

37,578

18,556
2,178

–
–

–
–

–
(5)

18,556
2,173

2

–

–

–

2

20,736

–

–

(5)

20,731

Company
2010
Non-interest bearing

1,591

–

–

–

1,591

2009
Non-interest bearing

2,081

–

–

–

2,081
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
(f)

Liquidity Risk (cont’d)
Liquidity and interest risk analyses (cont’d)
Non-derivative financial assets
The following tables detail the weighted average effective interest rates and the expected maturity for
non-derivative financial assets. The inclusion of information on non-derivative financial assets is necessary
in order to understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the Group’s liquidity risk is managed on
a net asset and liability basis. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted maturities of
the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Group and the
Company anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

Group
2010
Non-interest bearing
Variable interest rate instruments
Fixed interest rate instruments

2009
Non-interest bearing
Variable interest rate instruments
Fixed interest rate instruments

Company
2010
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instruments

2009
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instruments

Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate
%

On
demand or
within 1
year
$’000

–
0.10
0.37 – 5.06

–
0.15
0.54

–
3.51

–
1.97

Within
2 to 5
years
$’000

After 5
years
$’000

52,612
499
19,270

–
–

72,381

Adjustment
$’000

Total
$’000

–
–

–
–
(155)

52,612
499
19,115

–

–

(155)

72,226

40,862
496
9,241

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
(19)

40,862
496
9,222

50,599

–

–

(19)

50,580

2,829
14,988

–
–

–
–

–
–

2,829
14,988

17,817

–

–

–

17,817

5,638
9,800

–
–

–
–

–
–

5,638
9,800

15,438

–

–

–

15,438
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2010
30

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
(g)

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
As at the end of reporting period, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables and payables approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity
of these financial instruments.
The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
(a)

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b)

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c)

inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
(Level 3).

The fair value of the forward foreign exchange contracts is measured based on Level 2.

(h)

Capital Risk Management Policies and Objectives
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. The capital
structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the parent, in the form of issued capital,
reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity, and limited borrowing
(Note 15).
The Group monitors capital based on a debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by adjusted capital. Net debt is calculated as total debt less cash and bank balances. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity (i.e. share capital, non-controlling interest, accumulated losses,
translation reserves) other than amounts recognised in equity relating to cash flow hedges, where applicable.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2009.
Group
2010

2009

$’000

$’000

2,771

2,175

Less: Cash and bank balances

(15,824)

(16,982)

Net cash and bank balances

(13,053)

(14,807)

37,827

35,073

Total debt

Adjusted capital

As the Group has net cash balance at the end of 2010 and 2009, debt to adjusted capital is not
calculated.
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31

LIST OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES
Name of subsidiary and country
of incorporation/operation

Principal activities

Interest and voting power
held by the Group
2010
2009
%
%

Globaltraco International Pte Ltd
(Singapore) (a)

Distribution of tyres and
auto-products

100

100

Globaltraco (M) Sdn. Bhd.
(Malaysia) (b)

Distribution of tyres and
auto-products

100 (c)

60

Singapore Bandag (Private) Limited
(Singapore) (a)

Retreading of tyres

100

100

Performance Retreads Sdn. Bhd.
(Malaysia) (b)

Retreading of tyres

100

100

SP Resources International Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore) (a)

Trading and marketing of industrial
products

100

100

SP Global International Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore) (a)

Distribution of consumer products

100

100

Soil & Foundation (Pte) Limited
(Singapore) (a)

Geotechnical instrumentation and
investigation, laboratory testing,
environmental services and
micro-piling

100

100

PT. SP Mining & Engineering
(Indonesia) (b)

Engineering contractor

100

100

Ground Engineering Technologies
Pte Ltd (Singapore) (a)

Geotechnical contractor specialising
in foundation and soil improvement
works

100

100

(a)

Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

(b)

Audited by overseas member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.

(c)

On 19 February 2010, the Group acquired additional 40% interest in Globaltraco (M) Sdn. Bhd.
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SGX LISTING
MANUAL REQUIREMENTS
31 December 2010

Interested Person Transactions
– Listing Manual Rule 907
Group
Aggregate value of all
interested person transactions
(excluding transactions
less than S$100,000 and
transactions conducted
under shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920)
Name of interested person

Aggregate value of all
interested person transactions
conducted under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to Rule 920
(excluding transactions
less than S$100,000)

31-12-2010

31-12-2009

31-12-2010

31-12-2009

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Sales
William Liem & associates

–

–

6,563

4,414

Purchases
William Liem & associates

–

–

44,868

9,626

Management fees expense
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited & associates

–

–

292

162

Placement of deposits (trade)
William Liem & associates

–

–

11,032

–

Interest income from placement
of trade deposits
William Liem & associates

–

–

339

–

Interest income for late payment
William Liem & associates

–

–

107

–

Total interested persons transactions

–

–

63,201

14,202

Material Contracts
– Listing Manual Rule 1207(8)
Save as disclosed above, there were no other material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving
the interest of the Chief Executive Officer, Director or controlling shareholder, which were either subsisting at the end of
the financial year or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.

Treasury Shares
– Listing Manual Rule 1207(9)(f)
At no time during the year or subsequent to the financial year end, did the Company hold any treasury shares.
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SHAREHOLDING
STATISTICS
As at 1 March 2011

Share Capital And Voting Rights
Issued and fully paid up share capital
No. of shares issued
Class of shares
Voting rights

:
:
:
:

S$58,365,721.95
350,991,516
Ordinary shares
One vote per share

Distribution Of Shareholdings
Size of Shareholdings

No. of Shareholders

%

No. of Shares

%

1 – 999
1,000 – 10,000
10,001 – 1,000,000
1,000,001 & above

124
3,303
827
8

2.91
77.50
19.40
0.19

53,138
14,554,209
31,467,138
304,917,031

0.01
4.15
8.97
86.87

Total

4,262

100.00

350,991,516

100.00

Twenty Largest Shareholders
as shown in the Register of Members and Depository Register
No.

Name of Shareholders

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd
Jen Shek Chuen
Yeo Ai Tee
Tan Sek Khoon
Lim Ah Moi @ Lim Geok Hiong
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd
Tan Jui Yak
OCBC Securities Private Ltd
OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd
Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd.
Irwan Wijaya Dharma
Goh Weng Siang
Tan Swee Leng
Tan Xingkuan (Chen Xingkuan)
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd
Yap Siew Moy
Kuek Nga Hong

No. of Shares
281,463,197
7,835,334
4,846,000
4,572,000
2,229,000
1,554,000
1,354,000
1,063,500
742,500
612,000
575,318
535,000
495,000
419,000
415,000
398,000
301,000
234,000
220,000
214,000

80.19
2.23
1.38
1.30
0.64
0.44
0.39
0.30
0.21
0.17
0.16
0.15
0.14
0.12
0.12
0.11
0.09
0.07
0.06
0.06

%

Total

310,077,849

88.33

Substantial Shareholders
as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders

Name
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd *
Michelle Liem Mei Fung **
Liem Mei Kim **

No. of Shares
(Direct Interest)

%

No. of Shares
(Deemed Interest)

%

281,463,197
–
–
–

80.19
–
–
–

–
281,463,197
281,463,197
281,463,197

–
80.19
80.19
80.19

Notes:
*
By virtue of its interests in Tuan Sing Holdings Limited
**
By virtue of their interests in Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd

Shareholdings Held In The Hands Of The Public
Based on the information available to the Company as at 1 March 2011, approximately 19.81% of the issued ordinary
shares of the Company is held by the public and therefore, Rules 723 and 1207 of the Listing Manual issued by the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited have accordingly been complied with. The Company confirms that at least
10% of the ordinary shares of the Company is at all times held by the public.
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SP CORPORATION LIMITED
(Company Registration No.: 195200115K)

Registered office: 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02 The Oxley, Singapore 238697

To:

The Shareholders of SP Corporation Limited
(“Shareholders”)

Dear Sir/Madam

Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
We refer to item 9 of the Notice of the 58th Annual General Meeting (“58th AGM”) of the Company, which is an Ordinary
Resolution (“Resolution 8”) to be proposed at the 58th AGM for the renewal of the Company’s shareholders’ mandate for
interested person transactions. The purpose of this letter is to provide Shareholders with information relating to Resolution 8.
1.

Background
At the 57th Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 15 April 2010 (the “57th AGM”), Shareholders had
approved the renewal of a shareholders’ mandate for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) to enable the Company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies that are considered to be “entities at risk” within the meaning of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, or any
of them, to enter into certain types of transactions with specified classes of the Company’s interested persons,
provided that such transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business, are on normal commercial terms and
are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders (the “Shareholders’ Mandate”).

2.

Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate
Under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, a general mandate for transactions with interested persons is subject to
annual renewal. The Shareholders’ Mandate approved at the 57th AGM was expressed to continue in force until the
next annual general meeting of the Company, being the 58th AGM, which is to be held on 7 April 2011. Accordingly,
it is proposed that the Shareholders’ Mandate be renewed at the 58th AGM, to take effect until the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company.
The types of transactions and classes of interested persons in respect of which the Shareholders’ Mandate is
sought to be renewed remain unchanged. Particulars of the Shareholders’ Mandate, including the rationale for,
the benefits to be derived by the Company, as well as the review procedures for determining transaction prices
with the specified classes of interested persons, are set out in Appendix A of this letter.
General information on the listing rules relating to interested person transactions, including the meanings of terms
such as “associate”, “controlling shareholder” and “interested person” used in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, is
set out in Appendix B of this letter.

3.

Audit Committee’s Statement
The Audit Committee of the Company confirms that:

4.

(a)

the methods or procedures for determining the transaction prices under the Shareholders’ Mandate have
not changed since the 57th AGM; and

(b)

the methods or procedures referred to in (a) above are sufficient to ensure that the transactions will be
carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its
minority Shareholders.

Directors’ and Substantial Shareholders’ Interests
The interests of the Directors and substantial shareholders of the Company in the issued shares of the Company
can respectively be found on page 29 and page 77 of the Company’s Annual Report 2010.
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Certain Directors of the Company, namely, Messrs Peter Sung, Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu), Chong Chou Yuen,
Liem Chin Chiang and William Liem are regarded as being interested in the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate. Mr William Liem is within the classes of interested persons covered by the Shareholders’ Mandate. Mr
Liem Chin Chiang is the brother of Mr William Liem. Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu) is the uncle of Mr William
Liem and Mr Liem Chin Chiang. Mr Peter Sung had declared himself non-independent in November 2005. Mr Chong
Chou Yuen is the Chief Financial Officer of Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (the Company’s holding company).
The aforesaid Directors and their respective associates will abstain from voting their respective shareholdings (if
any) on Resolution 8 relating to the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at the forthcoming 58th AGM.
Tuan Sing Holdings Limited, Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd, and their respective associates, being within the classes
of interested persons in relation to the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate, will abstain from voting
their respective shareholdings (if any) on Resolution 8 relating to the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at the
forthcoming 58th AGM.
5.

Recommendation
The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes of the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate are Messrs Cheng Hong Kok, Tan Lye Huat and Wong Ann Chai. They are of the opinion that the entry
into of the Interested Person Transactions (as described in paragraph 2 of Appendix A) between the SP Group (as
described in paragraph 1 of Appendix A) and the Interested Persons (as described in paragraph 3 of Appendix A)
in the ordinary course of business will enhance the efficiency of the SP Group and is in the best interests of the
Company. For the reasons set out in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Appendix A, they recommend that Shareholders vote
in favour of Resolution 8 for the renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate at the forthcoming 58th AGM.

6.

Responsibility Statement
The Directors collectively and individually accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information given in this
letter and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts
stated and opinions expressed in this letter are fair and accurate and that there are no material facts the omission
of which would make any statement in this letter misleading.
The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the
statements made or opinions expressed in this letter.
Shareholders who are in any doubt as to the action they should take, should consult their stockbrokers or other
professional advisers immediately.

Yours faithfully
SP CORPORATION LIMITED

Peter Sung
Chairman
23 March 2011
Singapore
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APPENDIX A

SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
1.

Rationale for the Shareholders’ Mandate
It is envisaged that in the normal course of their businesses, transactions between SP Corporation Limited (the
“Company”), its subsidiaries and associated companies with the Company’s interested persons are likely to occur,
and may arise from time to time or at any time.
In view of the time-sensitive nature of commercial transactions, the obtaining of a mandate from Shareholders
(“Shareholders’ Mandate”) pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited, will enable the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies which are considered to be “entities
at risk” within the meaning of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (together, the “SP Group”) or any of them, to enter
into certain types of transactions as set out in Paragraph 2 below, with the Company’s interested persons set out
in Paragraph 3 below (the “Interested Persons”), provided that such transactions are entered into in the ordinary
course of business of the SP Group, are on normal commercial terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of
the Company and its minority Shareholders.
The Shareholders’ Mandate will provide the SP Group with added means to underpin its diversification and growth
strategy by leveraging on the SP Group’s network and its close working relationship with Interested Persons. In
particular, it would enable the SP Group to pursue commercial transactions in the ordinary course of business
in an expedient manner with Interested Persons, particularly in the areas of trading, marketing, distribution and
manufacturing and related specialist services, that would value add and provide new engines of growth for the
SP Group.
The Shareholders’ Mandate is intended to enhance the SP Group’s ability to pursue business opportunities which
are time-sensitive in nature, and will eliminate the need for the Company to announce, or to announce and convene
separate general meetings on each occasion to seek Shareholders’ prior approval for, the entry by the relevant
company in the SP Group into such transactions. This will substantially reduce the expenses associated with
the convening of general meetings on an ad hoc basis, improve administrative efficacy considerably, and allow
manpower resources and time to be channelled towards attaining other corporate objectives.

2.

Nature and Scope of Interested Person Transactions
The types of transactions with Interested Persons to be covered by the Shareholders’ Mandate relate principally to
the provision or obtaining of services and products in the normal course of the SP Group’s businesses (“Interested
Person Transactions”) but not in respect of purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses as provided
under Rule 920(1) of the Listing Manual. The Interested Person Transactions are as described below.
(a)

Construction and Engineering Services Transactions
The Company’s principal subsidiaries and associated companies carry out building and construction works
as building, engineering and foundation contractors as well as project managers. They also provide specialist
engineering services including but not limited to foundation piling, soil and foundation work consultancy,
geotechnical works, ground improvement works, pipe jacking and diaphragm wall construction.
Transactions with Interested Persons under this category will consist of the following:

80

(i)

the tender by companies in the SP Group (whether by way of public tender, invitation or otherwise)
and/or the award of contracts by Interested Persons to companies in the SP Group, or, as the case
may be, the tender by Interested Persons (whether by way of public tender, invitation or otherwise)
and/or the award of contracts by companies in the SP Group to Interested Persons, whether as
main contractors or as sub-contractors, for construction and engineering services including turnkey
projects for residential, commercial, industrial and engineering works or infra-structural development
(including build, operate and transfer (“BOT”)) or other projects;

(ii)

the provision by companies in the SP Group to, or receipt from Interested Persons of, project
management, consultancy, engineering services, geo-technical soil investigation and/or
instrumentation services for residential, industrial, commercial, infrastructural or other building,
construction, engineering works and/or development projects undertaken by the Interested Persons
or (as the case may be) companies in the SP Group; and
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(iii)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or receipt from Interested Persons of, industrial,
commercial, infrastructural or other building, construction, engineering works and/or development
projects undertaken by Interested Persons or (as the case may be) companies in the SP Group
including but not limited to treated water supply and water treatment services, power and natural
resources mining services.

As construction and engineering services constitute one of the core businesses of the SP Group, the
inclusion of the above category of transactions in the Shareholders’ Mandate will facilitate such transactions
by the SP Group with Interested Persons that arise in the normal course of operations of the SP Group in
a more expeditious manner.
(b)

Construction and Engineering Materials and Equipment Transactions
Related to its activities in building, construction and engineering services, the SP Group may also engage
in sourcing, purchasing, supplying and trading in building, construction and engineering materials including
but not limited to concrete and granite aggregates, steel bars, steel sheet piles, timber products, wall and
floor tiles, and construction equipment.
Transactions that may be carried out with Interested Persons under this category consist of the
following:
(i)

the design, installation, supply and provision of equipment and machinery and/or building,
construction and engineering materials including but not limited to paint, electric motors and
generators by companies in the SP Group to Interested Persons or vice versa; and

(ii)

the purchase or sale, and/or rental of equipment and machinery and/or building, construction and
engineering materials including but not limited to paint, electric motors and generators by companies
in the SP Group from, or to Interested Persons for on-sale or for use in the construction and/or
engineering services activities of the SP Group or, as the case may be, the Interested Persons.

These transactions relate to the supply of materials and equipment used in the building, construction and
engineering industry. The inclusion of this category of transactions in the Shareholders’ Mandate will allow
the SP Group to transact with Interested Persons in an expeditious manner to meet business needs for the
supply and/or provision of materials and equipment.
(c)

Trading and Marketing Transactions
The SP Group is engaged in the trading and marketing of various products relating to the automotive, tyre
and rubber, chemical, petrochemical, mining, aquaculture, power, electronics and agriculture industries.
Transactions coming within this category consist of the following:
(i)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, fish meal, shrimp feed and their related feedstock materials,
shrimps and other products in the aquaculture industry;

(ii)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, the provision or receipt of, technical, operation, maintenance
and engineering services for machinery, equipment and spare parts related to tyre and rubber,
power, petrochemical, chemical, aquaculture, agriculture, mining and other industries referred to in
sub-paragraphs (c)(i) above and (c)(iii) to (ix) below;

(iii)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, palm oil and related products, fertilizers and other natural
produce items in the agriculture industry;

(iv)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, natural resources including but not limited to coal, metals like
iron, aluminium, zinc, gold and copper and their alloys for various industries such as the power and
cement industries, automotive manufacturing industries, chemicals, tyre and rubber industries;

(v)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, printed circuit boards, electrical and electronics parts
and electrical cables and motors and other products related to the electronics and electrical
industries;
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(vi)

the marketing, sale by or purchase of, paint, basic and intermediate petrochemicals including but
not limited to ethylene, monoethyleneglycol, polyester, synthetic rubber, nylon fibres and others
related to the petrochemical industries;

(vii)

the distribution, marketing, sale and purchase of rubber and tyre related stocks and related products
(including raw materials and auxiliary products);

(viii)

the sale, purchase, rental and/or leasing of rubber, tyre and tyre related retreading machinery and
equipment or components and parts in respect thereof; and

(ix)

the provision and/or receipt of commissions, rebates and other trade-related or marketing incentives
to or by counter-parties including but not limited to dealers, distributors and principals.

The entry into and/or renewal of distribution, commission, agency or other marketing or representation
agreements with Interested Persons, and the purchase, sale, import and export of products set out above,
will come within the ambit of this category of transactions.
(d)

Distribution Transactions
The SP Group is engaged in the distribution of various consumer, automotive and related products.
Transactions coming within this category consist of the following:
(i)

distribution of consumer products including but not limited to hygiene, paper and food products;
and

(ii)

distribution of tyres and automotive related products including but not limited to alloy wheels, rubber
belts, batteries, electrical and pneumatic sensors.

The entry into and/or renewal of distribution, commission, agency or other marketing or representation
agreements with Interested Persons, and the purchase, sale, import and export of products set out above,
will come within the ambit of this category of transactions.
(e)

Manufacturing Transactions
Transactions coming within this category consist of the following:

(f)

(i)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or the receipt from, Interested Persons of, tyre
retreading services and logistic services related to the rubber, tyre and automotive industries; and

(ii)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or the receipt from, Interested Persons of,
design, technical expertise, operation, maintenance, manufacturing and purchase or sales of tyre
machinery and equipment and related parts and products.

Business, Management and Technical Services Transactions
It is expected that with further diversification of the activities of the SP Group, overhead costs and
administrative costs may increase with the establishment of more business units. As such, the centralisation
of management and support services staff within Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (“TSH”), its subsidiaries and
associated companies (together with TSH, collectively, the “TSH Group”) and between the SP Group and
the Interested Persons will enable business services costs to be shared, avoid duplication of efforts and
enhance communication within the TSH Group, the SP Group and the Interested Persons. The latter results
in savings for all operating companies within the TSH Group, the SP Group and the Interested Persons
through shared resources and economies of scale, and ensures that the services provided are of a uniform
approach and consistent standard throughout the operating subsidiaries.
Further, it is expected that TSH (the holding company of the Company) and other Interested Persons may
provide certain corporate functions and support to the SP Group in areas including but not limited to
finance, treasury, investment risk review and management; corporate planning and business development;
management information systems; human resource management and development; information technology
management and development; legal and corporate secretarial affairs; and internal audit.
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Additionally, as part of the TSH Group, the Company can benefit in treasury transactions from competitive
rates or quotes from TSH and third party financial institutions in an expedient manner. By transacting
directly with TSH, the Company may obtain better yields through the elimination of margins which third
party intermediaries might ordinarily be expected to earn.
The SP Group may also lease premises to or from, Interested Persons for meeting various business needs.
Transactions covered by this category consist of the following:
(i)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or the receipt from, Interested Persons of,
corporate, administrative and support services including but not limited to the areas of internal
audit, corporate planning and development, treasury and fund management services and staff
secondments;

(ii)

the borrowing of funds from Interested Persons or vice versa on a short-term and medium-term
basis; the placement of funds with the TSH Group on a short-term and medium-term basis; and the
entry into with Interested Persons of foreign exchange, swap, and option transactions for hedging
purposes (collectively, “Treasury Transactions”);

(iii)

the leasing or letting of office, warehouse and other business premises to or from the TSH Group
and/or other Interested Persons; and

(iv)

the provision by the companies in the SP Group to, or the receipt from, Interested Persons of,
subcontracting and outsourcing services, supply chain management services (including but not
limited to packaging, transport and logistic services), sharing of logistic facility management including
but not limited to rental and subletting of premises.

These transactions relate to the supply of corporate, support and administrative services, subcontracting and
outsourcing services, supply chain services and premises by the TSH Group and other Interested Persons
to companies in the SP Group. The inclusion of this category of transactions in the Shareholders’ Mandate
will allow the SP Group to transact with the TSH Group and other Interested Persons in an expeditious
manner to meet its business needs and requirements.
3.

Classes of Interested Persons with which the SP Group is transacting
The Shareholders’ Mandate will apply to the following classes of Interested Persons:

4.

(a)

TSH;

(b)

Nuri Holdings (S) Pte Ltd;

(c)

Mr William Liem; and

(d)

any company which, at the time at which the transaction is entered into, is an associate of the Interested
Persons named in (a) to (c) above.

Review Procedures for Interested Person Transactions
Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate, the Company has formed a special review committee (the “Review
Committee”) to ensure that transactions with Interested Persons are undertaken on the SP Group’s normal
commercial terms under the Shareholders’ Mandate. The Review Committee comprise senior executives of the
Company namely, the Managing Director, up to two executive Directors, the head of the relevant business units and
the Financial Controller/Chief Financial Officer, who have been tasked by the Board of Directors of the Company
(based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) from time to time)
with the review and approval of such transactions.
To ensure that the Interested Person Transactions arising from the normal course of business of the SP Group
are undertaken at arm’s length and on the SP Group’s normal commercial terms, and will not be prejudicial to the
interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders, the SP Group has implemented the following guidelines
for the review and approval of Interested Person Transactions under the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate:
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(a)

A transaction equal to or exceeding S$100,000 in value but below S$3 million (the “Financial Threshold”),
will be reviewed and approved by any two members of the Review Committee, who shall ensure that the
Interested Person Transactions are made on arm’s length basis and on terms and conditions no more
favourable than those which would be granted to an unrelated third party in similar circumstances, and which
are on the SP Group’s normal commercial terms or otherwise in accordance (where applicable) with industry
norms and that they are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders.

(b)

A transaction equal to or exceeding the Financial Threshold will be reviewed and approved by any two
members of the Audit Committee, who shall ensure that the Interested Person Transactions are made on
arm’s length basis and on terms and conditions no more favourable than those which would be granted
to an unrelated third party in similar circumstances, and which are on the SP Group’s normal commercial
terms or otherwise in accordance (where applicable) with industry norms and that they are not prejudicial
to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders.

(c)

Any member of the Review Committee and the members of the Audit Committee may, as he/they deem
fit, request for additional information pertaining to the transaction under review from independent sources
or advisers, including the obtaining of valuations from independent professional valuers.

(d)

If a member of the Review Committee or the Audit Committee has an interest in a transaction, he shall
abstain from participating in the review and approval process in relation to that transaction. If more than
three members of the Review Committee are interested in the transaction, the review and approval process
shall be undertaken by the Chairman of the Audit Committee or another member of the Audit Committee
(who has no interest in the transaction) designated by the Chairman of the Audit Committee for such
purpose.
The Audit Committee will also:

(e)

(i)

carry out periodic reviews (on a quarterly basis) to ascertain that the established guidelines and
procedures for Interested Person Transactions have been complied with; and

(ii)

consider from time to time whether the established guidelines and procedures for transactions with
Interested Persons have become inappropriate or are unable to ensure that the transactions will be
carried out on normal commercial terms, and are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company
and its minority Shareholders.

For the purpose of the above review procedures, where goods and/or services (other than Treasury
Transactions) are to be purchased or obtained by the SP Group from Interested Persons, quotations will
be obtained (wherever possible or available) from at least two other unrelated third party suppliers for
similar quantities and/or quality of the materials, equipment, machinery or services concerned as a basis
for comparison to determine whether the price and terms offered by the Interested Person are fair and
reasonable. Where it is impractical or not possible for such quotes to be obtained, the Review Committee
or the Audit Committee will ensure that the terms of supply are fair and reasonable, in accordance with
industry norms and in line with business practices of the relevant industry taking into consideration, factors
such as but not limited to pricing, payment terms, credit worthiness, the strategic purpose for the transaction
and market conditions.
In relation to Treasury Transactions, the following guidelines shall apply:

Borrowings. The SP Group will only borrow funds from an Interested Person if the interest rate quoted by the
Interested Person is not more than the lowest rate quoted by the SP Group’s principal bankers for loans of
an equivalent amount and tenure. Quotations of rates will be procured from at least two of the SP Group’s
principal bankers each time that funds are proposed to be borrowed from an Interested Person.
Placements. The SP Group will only place funds with the TSH Group if the interest rate quoted by the TSH
Group is not less than the highest of the rates quoted by the SP Group’s principal bankers for deposits of
an equivalent amount and tenure. Quotations of rates will be procured from at least two of the SP Group’s
principal bankers each time that funds are proposed to be placed with the TSH Group.
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Forex, swaps and options. The SP Group will only enter into forex, swap and option transactions with an
Interested Person if the rates quoted by the Interested Person are no less favourable to the SP Group than
those quoted by the SP Group’s principal bankers. Quotations of rates will be procured from at least two
of the SP Group’s principal bankers each time that a forex, swap or option transaction is proposed to be
entered into with an Interested Person.
In addition, the Company will monitor the Treasury Transactions entered into with Interested Persons as
follows:

5.

(i)

Where the aggregate value of funds placed with the TSH Group shall at any time exceed the
consolidated shareholders’ funds of the Company (based on its latest audited accounts), each
subsequent placement of funds with the TSH Group shall require the prior approval of the Audit
Committee.

(ii)

Where the aggregate principal amount of all forex, swap and option transactions entered into with the
same Interested Person (as such term is construed under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual) exceeds
at any one time the equivalent of the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the Company (based on
its latest audited accounts), each subsequent forex, swap or option transaction to be entered into
with the same Interested Person shall require the prior approval of the Audit Committee.

Interested Person Transactions Register
The Company maintains a register of transactions carried out with Interested Persons pursuant to the Shareholders’
Mandate (recording the basis on which they are entered into). Further, the Company’s annual internal audit plan
will incorporate a review of transactions entered into in the relevant financial year pursuant to the Shareholders’
Mandate.

6.

Excluded Transactions
The Shareholders’ Mandate will not cover any transaction by a company in the SP Group with an Interested Person
that is below S$100,000 in value as the threshold and aggregation requirements of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual
would not apply to such transactions.
Transactions with interested persons (including the Interested Persons) which do not fall within the ambit of the
Shareholders’ Mandate shall be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, or other
applicable provisions of the Listing Manual and/or the Companies Act (Cap. 50), if any.

7.

Validity Period of the Shareholders’ Mandate
The Shareholders’ Mandate will take effect from the passing of the resolution relating thereto, and will (unless
revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company. Approval from Shareholders will be sought for the renewal of the Shareholders’
Mandate at the next annual general meeting and at each subsequent annual general meeting of the Company,
subject to satisfactory review by the Audit Committee of its continued application to the transactions with Interested
Persons.

8.

Disclosure in Annual Report
Disclosure will be made in the Company’s annual report of the aggregate value of transactions conducted pursuant
to the Shareholders’ Mandate during the financial year and in the annual reports for subsequent financial years
that the Shareholders’ Mandate continues in force in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual.
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APPENDIX B

GENERAL INFORMATION RELATING TO CHAPTER 9 OF THE LISTING MANUAL
1.

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) deals with
transactions in which a listed company or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies (that are not listed on the
SGX-ST or an approved exchange, provided that the listed group, or the listed group and its interested person(s)
(as defined in Chapter 9), has control over the associated company) proposes to enter with a party who is an
interested person of the listed company.

2.

Transactions with interested persons which do not come within the ambit of a general mandate for interested person
transactions approved by shareholders of the listed company pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (including
any renewal thereof) will be subject to applicable provisions of Chapter 9 and/or other applicable provisions of the
Listing Manual. As such, an immediate announcement and/or shareholders’ approval would be required in respect
of transactions with interested persons if certain financial thresholds as set out in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual
are reached or exceeded. In particular, an immediate announcement is required where:
2.1

the value of a proposed transaction is equal to or exceeds 3% of the listed company’s latest audited net
tangible assets (“NTA”); or

2.2

the aggregate value of all transactions entered into with the same interested person during the same financial
year, is equal to or more than 3% of the listed company’s latest audited NTA. An announcement will have
to be made immediately of the latest transaction and all future transactions entered into with that same
interested person during the same financial year,

and shareholders’ approval (in addition to an immediate announcement) is required where:
2.3

the value of a proposed transaction is equal to or exceeds 5% of the listed company’s latest audited NTA; or

2.4

the aggregate value of all transactions entered into with the same interested person during the same financial
year, is equal to or more than 5% of the listed company’s latest audited NTA. The aggregation will exclude
any transaction that has been approved by shareholders previously, or is the subject of aggregation with
another transaction that has been approved by shareholders.

3.

For the purposes of aggregation, interested person transactions below S$100,000 each are excluded.

4.

For illustration purposes, based on the audited accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31 December 2010, the latest audited NTA of the Group is S$37.8 million. Accordingly, in
relation to the Company, for the purposes of Chapter 9 in the current financial year, shareholders’ approval would
be required where:
(a)

the transaction is of a value equal to, or more than, S$1.9 million, being 5% of the Group’s latest audited
NTA; or

(b)

the transaction, when aggregated with other transactions entered into with the same interested person
during the same financial year, is of a value equal to, or more than, S$1.9 million. The aggregation will
exclude any transaction that has been approved by shareholders previously, or is the subject of aggregation
with another transaction that has been approved by shareholders.

5.

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual allows for a listed company to seek a mandate from its shareholders for recurrent
transactions with interested persons of a revenue or trading nature necessary for its day-to-day operations such as
the purchase and sale of supplies and materials, but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings
or businesses.

6.

For the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual:
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6.1

an “interested person” means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of the listed
company, or an associate of such director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder;

6.2

a “controlling shareholder” is a person who holds directly or indirectly 15% or more of all voting shares in
the listed company (unless otherwise excepted by SGX-ST) or in fact exercises control over a company;
and

6.3

an “associate” in relation to any director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder (being an individual)
means his immediate family (i.e. spouse, children, adopted children, step-children, siblings and parents), the
trustees of any trust of which he or his immediate family is a beneficiary or, in the case of a discretionary
trust, is a discretionary object, and any company in which he and his immediate family together (directly or
indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more. An “associate” in relation to a controlling shareholder (being a
company) means any other company which is its subsidiary or holding company or is a subsidiary of such
holding company or one in the equity of which it and/or such other company or companies taken together
(directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 58th Annual General Meeting of SP Corporation Limited (the “Company”) will be held
at the NTUC Centre, No. 1 Marina Boulevard, Room 801 Level 8, One Marina Boulevard, Singapore 018989 on Thursday,
7 April 2011 at 11.30 a.m. to transact the following business:
AS ORDINARY BUSINESS:
1.

To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 together
with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.
(Resolution 1)

2.

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$200,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2010
(2009: S$204,000).
(Resolution 2)

3.

To re-appoint Mr Peter Sung as Director of the Company pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Cap. 50
to hold office from the date of this Annual General Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.
(Resolution 3)

4.

To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 99(2) of the Company’s Articles of
Association and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:
(a)
(b)

Mr Liem Chin Chiang
Mr Wong Ann Chai

(Resolution 4a)
(Resolution 4b)

5.

To re-elect Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu) who was appointed a Director during the year and retires pursuant
to Article 100 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
(Resolution 5)

6.

To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their
remuneration.
(Resolution 6)

7.

To transact any other ordinary business that may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS:
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:
8.

Authority to allot and issue shares up to ten per centum (10%) of the issued shares
“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Directors be empowered to allot and issue
shares in the capital of the Company at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes
as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares to be
allotted and issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed ten per centum (10%) of the issued shares in the
capital of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution and that such authority shall, unless revoked
or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the Company’s next Annual
General Meeting or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be
held, whichever is earlier.”
(Resolution 7)

9.

Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
“That:
a.

approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (“Chapter 9”) of
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies that are considered to be “entities at risk” under Chapter 9, or any of them, to enter into any of
the transactions falling within the types of Interested Person Transactions described in Appendix A of the
Company’s letter to shareholders dated 23 March 2011 (the “Letter”), with any party who is of the Classes
of Interested Persons described in Appendix A of the Letter, provided that such transactions are carried out
in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial terms, will not be prejudicial to the interests of
the Company and its minority shareholders and are in accordance with the guidelines and review procedures
for Interested Person Transactions as set out in the Letter (the “Shareholders’ Mandate”);

b.

such Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company; and
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c.

the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and things
(including executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider expedient or necessary
or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate and/or this Resolution.”
(Resolution 8)

By Order of the Board

Mary Goh Swon Ping
Company Secretary
23 March 2011
Singapore
Notes:
1.
A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one
or two proxies to attend and vote on his behalf, save that no limit shall be imposed on the number of proxies for
nominee companies. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
2.

An instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02
The Oxley, Singapore 238697 not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the Annual General Meeting or
any adjournment thereof.

Additional Information Relating to the Notice of the 58th Annual General Meeting
Resolution 3 – Mr Peter Sung, upon re-appointment as a Director of the Company, will remain as Chairman of the Board
as well as a member of the Remuneration Committee. He is considered a non-Executive and non-Independent Director.
Resolution 4(a) – Mr Liem Chin Chiang, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as a non-Executive
and non-Independent Director.
Resolution 4(b) – Mr Wong Ann Chai, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as a member of the
Audit Committee. He is considered an Independent Director.
Resolution 5 – Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu), upon re-election as a Director of the Company, will remain as
the Company’s Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. He is considered an Executive and non-Independent
Director.
Detailed information on Mr Peter Sung, Mr Liem Chin Chiang, Mr Wong Ann Chai and Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony
Wu) can be found under “Directors’ Profile” in the Company’s Annual Report 2010.
Resolution 7 – is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company up to an amount not exceeding
in aggregate 10% of the issued shares in the capital of the Company. For the purpose of determining the aggregate
number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares will be calculated based on the issued shares in
the capital of the Company at the time that this resolution is passed after adjusting for any subsequent consolidation or
subdivision of shares.
Resolution 8 – is to renew effectively up to the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company (unless
earlier revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the Shareholders’ Mandate to enable the Company, its
subsidiaries and associated companies that are considered “entities at risk” to enter, in the ordinary course of business,
into the types of mandated transactions with specified classes of the Company’s interested persons. The Shareholders’
Mandate which was previously renewed by shareholders at the 57th Annual General Meeting of the Company on 15 April
2010, will be expiring at the forthcoming 58th Annual General Meeting. Particulars of the Shareholders’ Mandate and the
Audit Committee’s confirmation (pursuant to Rule 920(1) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited) in respect of the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate, are contained in the Company’s letter
to shareholders dated 23 March 2011.
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SP CORPORATION LIMITED

IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy SP Corporation
Limited shares, this Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of
their CPF Approved Nominees and is FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

(Company Registration No.: 195200115K)

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be
ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by
them.

PROXY FORM
I/We

(Name)

of

(Address)

being a member/members of SP CORPORATION LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint
Name

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of
Shareholdings (%)

Address
and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name

Address

as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the 58th Annual
General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company to be held at the NTUC Centre, No. 1 Marina Boulevard, Room 801 Level 8,
One Marina Boulevard, Singapore 018989 on Thursday, 7 April 2011 at 11.30 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.
I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no
specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof,
the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or to
join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.
(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [√] within the box provided.)
No.

Ordinary Resolutions

For

Against

Ordinary Business
1.

To adopt the Audited Financial Statements and Reports of the Directors and the Auditors

2.

To approve Directors’ fees

3.

To re-appoint Mr Peter Sung as Director

4.

(a) To re-elect Mr Liem Chin Chiang as Director
(b) To re-elect Mr Wong Ann Chai as Director

5.

To re-elect Mr Boediman Gozali (alias Tony Wu) as Director

6.

To re-appoint Auditors and authorise Directors to fix their remuneration
Special Business

7.

To authorise Directors to issue and allot shares

8.

To approve the renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

Dated this

day of

2011
Shares held in:
(i) Depository Register
(ii) Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal
IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF

Number of Shares

Notes To Proxy Form
1.

Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section
130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members,
you should insert that number of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name
in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in
your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares
held by you.

2.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to attend
and vote on his behalf save that no limit shall be imposed on the number of proxies for nominee companies. A proxy need not be a member of the
Company.

3.

Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as
a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02 The Oxley, Singapore
238697, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

5.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointer or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument
appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly
authorised.

6.

A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative
at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

7.

The Company shall be entitled to reject this instrument of proxy if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the
appointer are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointer specified in the instrument of proxy. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in
the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument of proxy lodged if such member, being the appointer, is not shown to have Shares
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by
The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
Disclaimer
Readers should note that legislation in Singapore governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
This Annual Report is provided for information purposes only
and does not constitute an invitation to invest in the Company’s
shares. Except where you are a shareholder, this report is not,
in particular, intended to confer any legal rights on you. Any
decision you make by relying on this information is solely your
responsibility. The historical information given is as of the dates
specified, is not updated and any forward-looking statement
is made subject to the reservation specified in the following
paragraph.

Important Notes on Forward-looking Statements
This Annual Report may contain forward-looking statements.
Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends” or the
negative use of these terms and other similar expressions of
future performance or results and their negatives are intended
to identify such forward-looking statements. These forwardlooking statements are based upon current expectations and
assumptions regarding anticipated developments and other
factors affecting the Group. They are not historical facts, nor are
they guarantees of future performance or events.

These forward-looking statements involve assumptions, risks
and uncertainties. The actual future performance or results may
differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward
looking statements as a result of various important factors. These
factors include but not limited to, economic, political and social
conditions in the geographic markets where the Group operates,
interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate movements,
cost of capital and availability of capital, competition from other
companies and venues for sale/manufacture/distribution of goods
and services, shift in demands, customers and partners, and
changes in operating costs.
Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date
of this report. Except as required by any applicable law or
regulation, the Group expressly disclaims any obligation or
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revision to any
forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any
change in the Group’s expectations with regard thereto or any
change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any
such statement is based.
Readers may download the full PDF version of this Annual
Report and other information about SP Corporation Limited at
our website, www.spcorp.com.sg
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